





### EMERGING RISK Impacts of Key Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia

### **Acknowledgements**

This report would not have been possible without the financial support of the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and grant funding from the Government of Japan. IFC supports World Resources Institute's (WRI) research on financial materiality of environmental risks in corporate valuation. Emerging Risk is the first in a series of publications under this research collaboration. Special thanks to our WRI colleagues, Andrew Aulisi, Piet Klop, Janet Ranganathan, Polly Ghazi, Manish Bapna, Charles Iceland, Amy Cassara, and Ray Cheung who generously contributed their time and expertise to reviewing many drafts and versions of this report and improving the analysis. We would also like to acknowledge Neelam Singh, Ella Delio, and Fred Stolle for their input on specific sections and thank Florence Landsberg and Susan Minnemeyer for the GIS deforestation maps, and ISciences LLC for the water scarcity map. We are also grateful for the thoughtful contributions by Melissa Brown (formerly of ASrIA), Kavita Prakash-Mani (formerly of SustainAbility), David Goldstein (Cometech AeroAstro Inc.), Neeraj Prasad (World Bank), and the IFC's Sustainable Investing team, especially Brunno Maradei, who all provided valuable guidance on the scope and direction of this research. Also thank you to Jennie Hommel for managing the review process, Margaret Yamashita for her excellent copy-editing, and Barbieri & Green for their creative efforts in designing the report.

Each World Resources Institute report represents a timely and scholarly treatment of a subject of public concern. WRI takes responsibility for choosing the study topics and guaranteeing its authors and researchers freedom of inquiry. It also solicits and responds to the guidance of advisory panels and expert reviewers. Unless otherwise stated, however, all the interpretations and findings set forth in WRI publications are those of the authors.

Whilst every effort has been taken to verify the accuracy of this information, neither World Resources Institute, International Finance Corporation nor their affiliates can accept any responsibility or liability for reliance by any person on this information.

April 2009

Photo Credits: Cover photo credit: istockphoto Page 6 - © Tom Fewster Page 11 - The Flat Earth Collection Page 12 - Flickr hermmermferm Page 24 - Digital Vision Page 28 - Flickr birframes Page 30 - © George Clerk Page 32 - The Flat Earth Collection Page 34 - Flickr isa\_adsr Page 38 - Flickr Stuck in Customs Page 40 - Flickr paw con Page 42 - Digital Vision Page 43 - Flickr Keith Bacongco Page 47 - © Kris Vandereycken Page 48 - © blackred

© 2009 World Resources Institute and International Finance Corporation. All rights reserved.

### Forward

The current global financial crisis has highlighted the need to manage risk and has given new impetus to an old debate in the investment community on how to value environmental risks. While evidence increasingly shows that issues such as climate change and water scarcity pose material risks for companies, progress on pricing these externalities has been somewhat slower, particularly in emerging markets.

In Europe, Japan and the United States, many corporations now measure and manage their emissions of greenhouse gases. There has also been a sharp rise both in environmental corporate reporting and in climate-related shareholder resolutions, reflecting demands from investors who want to know how companies are managing the risks and opportunities associated with a warming world. New and growing interest in the investment community on the issues of water scarcity, deforestation, and natural resource depletion, suggests that climate change may have opened a door through which a multitude of environmental issues are changing the way the investors value companies.

The relevance of environmental sustainability to investment must not be limited to London, New York, and Tokyo. Emerging markets have grown at an unprecedented rate in the past 20 years, driven by investments made by both local investors and large institutional investors in OECD countries, however insufficient information on how companies in emerging markets manage environmental risks and opportunities hinders investors' ability to make sound long-term investment decisions. Understanding which environmental and social risks are material will help investors seek appropriate information from companies, assess corporate value, and direct capital to sustainable enterprise. Re-directing capital injected into South and Southeast Asia's growing economies toward less environmentally destructive economic activity will not only reduce investment risk, it will also help support the region's long term prosperity.

*Emerging Risk* is the first report in a series establishing the link between issues like climate change, air pollution, water supply, and natural resource depletion and traditional financial analysis on corporate value and financial strength for companies in six key Asian economies – India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam. The report lays the groundwork for analysts to understand environmental issues as financially material, and for companies to see the financial benefits of reducing their environmental impacts.

Weitun

Greg Radford Environment and Social Development Director International Finance Corporation

mathen Sal

Jonathan Lash President World Resources Institute



### **Table of Contents**

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   | 4  |
|---|----|
| I. IN CONTEXT: TRENDS, PLAYERS, AND BARRIERS                              | 6  |
|   |    |
| II. ENVIRONMENTAL TRENDS IN EMERGING ASIA AND THEIR IMPACT ON KEY SECTORS | 12 |
| Deforestation   | 14 |
| Water Scarcity  | 16 |
| Climate Change  | 18 |
| Food Security   | 20 |
| Energy Security   | 22 |
| Air Pollution   | 24 |
| Urbanization  | 26 |
| Population Growth   | 28 |
|   |    |
| III. EMERGING ASIAN COUNTRIES: A DEEPER LOOK                              | 30 |
| India   | 32 |
| Indonesia   | 34 |
| Malaysia  | 38 |
| Philippines   | 40 |
| Thailand  | 44 |
| Vietnam   | 46 |
|   |    |
| IV. CORPORATE ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL REPORTING IN EMERGING ASIA         | 48 |
|   |    |
| SOURCES CONSULTED FOR THIS REPORT   | 50 |
|   |    |
| ENDNOTES  | 51 |

### **Executive Summary**

The health of the planet is becoming a significant issue for the financial and corporate world. Powerful global trends around the environment, sustainability, business, and investment have converged to a point that certain environmental issues have become material financial matters for publicly traded companies and their investors. Financial markets that are attuned to these trends are likely to create strong incentives for companies to improve their environmental performance.

The relevance of environmental sustainability to investment is not limited to London, New York, and Tokyo. Emerging markets have grown at an unprecedented rate in the last two decades as large institutional investors have increasingly looked to these markets as investment destinations.

*Emerging Risk* is an introduction to a series of sector reports on the financial materiality of key environmental trends in India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam.\* It forms part of a research collaboration between the World Resources Institute (WRI) and the International Finance Corporation (IFC) to give investors in emerging Asian countries the information and tools they need to link the materiality of issues such as climate change, air pollution, water scarcity, and deforestation to traditional financial analysis.

*Emerging Risk* sets the scene with an overview of the principal players, main stock exchanges, selective environmental trends affecting emerging Asian nations, and the impacts of the trends on critical sectors in the six focus countries. This report is intended for international and local investors as well as analysts, policymakers, and researchers who cover this region. It should be useful to any investorrelated audience seeking to understand the business impact of environmental trends on publicly listed companies in emerging South and Southeast Asian countries.

Because this report addresses an investment-oriented audience with varying degrees of knowledge about environmental issues, we have framed the issues in terms of broad environmental themes or trends,

### At a Glance: Environmental Trends and Risk Categories for Investors

### Trends

- Deforestation
- Water Scarcity
- Climate Change
- Food Security
- Energy Security
- Air Pollution
- Urbanization
- Population Growth

### Risks

- Operational or physical
- Regulatory and legal
- Reputational
- Market and product
- Financing

reflecting those typically identified in reports by the World Bank, Asian Development Bank, and the like.

The six Asian economies on which we focus—India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam—all have rapidly growing industrial, commercial, and financial sectors, and all are susceptible to environmental risk. For example, all six are particularly vulnerable to the physical risks associated with climate change. The region's rapid economic growth has fueled the world's highest increases in the commercial and domestic demand for energy. In 2008, the six countries together contain approximately 1.6 billion people, or about 25 percent of the world population.

The above box summarizes the main environmental trends we explore and the main types of risk they engender. Physical impacts are likely to be the most pronounced and can directly affect a company's daily operations, for example disruption in production due to a lack of water or severe weather-related damage to company assets.

Our research shows that resource-dependent sectors—like forestry products, food and beverage, and oil and gas—which are important

### **Exposing the Information Gap**

The limited (or even lack of) public environmental and social information currently being provided by many local companies in the six countries does not meet investors' quantitative and risk-oriented information needs. Relative to best practices in developed countries, corporate disclosure standards are lagging in emerging Asia (see the WRI study *Undisclosed Risk: Corporate Environmental and Social Reporting in Emerging Asia*). This dearth of information has a double downside. First, investors must make decisions with an incomplete knowledge of companies' exposure to environmental and social risks and opportunities, and second, Asian businesses are hurt over the long run by their failure to address potential financial, operational, and reputational risks. Better reporting alone will not enable financial markets to respond to environmentally sustainable companies. Even in developed markets, more disclosure does not immediately translate into value. What is needed is a fundamental alignment between economic incentives and environmental stewardship.

\* The sectors identified thus far, albeit subject to change, are food and beverage, power generation, and real estate.

to these emerging Asian economies, are precisely those that will be affected by the physical impacts of environmental trends. The construction and real estate sectors also have become significant economic players and are highly dependent on the availability and cost of raw materials. The manufacturing sectors range from low value—added goods, such as textiles, to high value—added goods, such as software, and they often are highly resource (labor, energy, and water) intensive. India, Malaysia, and the Philippines have a thriving service sector, such as business process outsourcing, which is highly dependent on a skilled workforce.

To illustrate the environmental challenges facing companies operating in this region, we use three case studies: supply chain pressures on Staples, the office supplies giant; the effects of water scarcity in India on Coca-Cola's manufacturing process; and the physical effects of flooding in Indonesia on sectors ranging from automobiles to telecommunications.

In the years ahead, investors and asset owners, particularly large institutional investors, will have a role to play in redirecting capital toward more environmentally sustainable economic activities, which can reduce investment risk and support the region's long-term prosperity. This report is intended to help them take the first steps in that direction.

# In Context: Trends, Players, and Barriers

Sure 1

The sustainability practices of European and North American corporations, and the financial institutions that analyze and invest in them, are changing, with asset managers, financial analysts, and other actors increasingly viewing environmental, social, and corporate governance (ESG) issues as financially material. Although the financial sector has not yet fully incorporated these issues into its financial models, it does recognize that ESG issues may be material to investors' long-term investment returns. Large institutional investors – the asset owners - increasingly accept that incorporating long-term issues like climate change into their investment decision-making process is part of their fiduciary duty.<sup>1</sup>

Even though investors in Europe and the United States are aware of, and to a lesser extent analyze, ESG trends, this is generally not the case in emerging market countries, despite the evident and significant environmental and social impacts of rapid economic development.<sup>2</sup> The Asia Pacific region has had the world's fastest-growing gross domestic product (GDP) since the 1990s. This remarkable economic progress has had clear environmental and social consequences.

More recently, local and foreign investors in Asia's emerging markets are becoming aware of high-profile environmental trends and their potential impact on investment returns. Accordingly, a number of new, socially responsible investment (SRI) funds and indexes that use ESG-based strategies have been launched in the region.<sup>3</sup> Although these products have not yet had a significant effect on the financial markets, they have provided momentum for investors to move Asian companies toward more sustainable practices through their investment decisions. Focusing on the six Asian economies of India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam, this introductory report seeks to:

- Raise investor awareness around environmental trends for each country, and the region as a whole.
- Determine how key business sectors could be affected by the risks and opportunities arising from these trends.
- Briefly evaluate corporations' current environmental and social reporting and disclosure practices.

*Emerging Risk* will be followed by sector reports connecting these trends more closely to the investment decision-making process. Each sector report will demonstrate how environmental trends affect value drivers in that sector and help investors and analysts assess the trends' financial impacts on company valuations. The aim of this body of research is to increase capital formation in environmentally sustainable listed companies in emerging Asia (figure 1).

Figure 1: Project Overview

Emerging Risk: Impacts of Key Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia

Undisclosed Risk: Corporate Environmental and Social Reporting in Emerging Asia **Sector Reports** 

Food and Beverage Power Generation

Real Estate

#### **Featured Trends**

|     | Deforestation     | The region's forests are disappearing at an alarming rate.   |
|-----|-------------------|--|
| *   | Water Scarcity    | The high demand for water, coupled with water pollution, means that water reserves are being used faster than they can be replenished.   |
| ÓN, | Climate Change    | Rapidly increasing global emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) are leading to floods, droughts, and extreme weather events, as well as to international pressure to reduce emissions and shift to low-carbon technologies. |
| ¥   | Food Security     | The recent steep rise in rice and wheat prices is threatening to undo advancements made in poverty reduction and workforce health.   |
| 3   | Energy Security   | This region's economic growth has led to the world's highest increases in the demand for energy, along with rising global energy prices.   |
|     | Air Pollution     | As the countries in this region have become more industrialized and motorized, the air quality of their cities has deteriorated.   |
|     | Urbanization      | The percentage of the population living in cities in emerging Asian countries has risen dramatically.  |
|     | Population Growth | This region contains a quarter of the world's population as of 2008, leading to significant stress on local resources.   |
|     |                   |  |

### Trends

*Emerging Risk* explores the likely risk implications of eight environmental trends for companies in India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam. We selected these trends based on environmental themes and trends identified by the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, and other regional experts.<sup>\*</sup> Our goal is not to undertake a comprehensive study of all the environmental trends in Asia, as there already is a vast body of literature on this, but instead to focus on the business impacts of select trends on critical sectors.

At both the regional and country level, we highlight pressing environmental issues facing each economy. In the future sector reports, we will identify more precisely and in more detail the most significant effects of these trends.

We then discuss the impacts of each trend on critical sectors in each country. The sectors were chosen by WRI for their significant contribution to the market value of the domestic stock exchanges, with the exception of agriculture, which was selected because of its contribution to GDP.

Finally, we briefly review the corporate environmental and social disclosure practices in the six focus countries. This section draws from the WRI Study "Undisclosed Risk: Corporate Environmental and Social Reporting in Emerging Asia," which examines both the characteristics of and the drivers for corporate reporting in the six countries' ten largest (by market capitalization) companies.

### **Players**

Relative to developed markets, the stock markets in the six focus countries are small and nascent. Vietnam opened the doors of its firstever stock exchange only in 2000. Clearly, there is a significant difference between Vietnam and India but overall, in these countries, market capitalization is concentrated in a few companies, trading volumes are thin, and prices are driven more by speculation and rumor than by market fundamentals or company value.

### **Stock Exchanges**

The sizes of the six countries' stock exchanges differ significantly, with India having the largest market capitalization and the highest number of listed companies, as shown in figures 2 and 3.

**Figure 2:** Market capitalization (exchange rate adjusted to US\$) of national stock exchanges as of December 31, 2007



Note: For countries that had more than one stock exchange, the values were added together.

Source: Data from national stock exchanges.

\* The literature reviewed includes World Bank country reports on the environment in Asia and the Pacific, Asian Development Bank country environmental analysis reports, and the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) report "State of the Environment in Asia and the Pacific".

Figure 3: Number of listed companies on national stock exchanges as of December 31, 2007



Number of Listed Companies

Note: For those countries that had more than one stock exchange, the values were added together. Source: Data from national stock exchanges.

A large percentage of the six stock exchanges' total value is concentrated in the ten largest (by market capitalization) companies (figure 4). The high concentration of value in relatively few companies is a sign of an underdeveloped market vulnerable to speculative investment patterns and high volatility.

Figure 4: Concentration of stock exchanges' value, 2007



Investors

In the last ten to fifteen years, the six countries' stock markets have become more open to foreign investors, and their more liberalized laws also have attracted more foreigners to their capital markets. For example, in India, investments by foreign institutional investors reached more than US\$51 billion in March 2007, up from US\$3 billion in 1995.<sup>4</sup> Figure 5 shows the significant level of foreign participation in the six countries.

Figure 5: Total percentage trading value of foreign investors' purchases, May 2008



Sources: National Stock Exchanges <sup>5</sup>

Foreign investors typically invest in emerging markets with a longterm (five years or more) time horizon.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, they are more likely to be interested in the impact on valuation of environmental and social trends, which also play out on long-time horizons. For this reason, foreign investors have a strong role to play in demanding better environmental and social standards and more disclosure from the emerging market companies in which they invest. In turn, they also can influence the actions of local investors.<sup>7</sup>

Although investors in emerging markets may not be getting the requisite company information officially, some evidence suggests that they are nonetheless learning about firms' environmental and social performance by engaging directly with them.<sup>8</sup> That is, a company may not wish to reveal publicly the risks it faces, especially if it does not have a mitigation strategy, but local analysts and insiders may still have private, informal access to critical information.

According to Asian SRI experts ASrIA, local analysts in the region "are aware of environmental and social issues, though not on a deep level."<sup>9</sup> Indeed, the Enhanced Analytics Initiative, which encourages including extra-financial issues in investment research, has seen relatively little such research from Asia during its four years of surveying investment research globally.<sup>10</sup> To investors and analysts in emerging markets, economic growth and development clearly still take precedence over environmental issues.

### **Barriers**

Including environmental and social issues in financial valuation not just an analysis of the trends but full integration into a financial model—is a challenge even in more mature capital markets like those of Europe, Japan, and the United States.

A recent study of European buy- and sell-side analysts found that few included extra-financial information in their valuations.<sup>11</sup> A number of technical and institutional barriers, discussed next, prevent companies and equity investors from potentially profiting from understanding the relationship between environmental and financial performance.

### **Technical Barriers**

Financial valuation is a tool for making better investment decisions. A firm's future cash flow is the best measurement of its current value. One of the reasons it is such a robust metric is that it requires complete information. A key problem with environmental risks is that companies do not fully inform the market about them, often because they themselves do not fully understand them. Consequently, investors have limited information to price these risks in their discounted cash flow (DCF) models. According to a recent survey of asset managers based mostly in Europe, this lack of public transparency is the main obstacle to incorporating ESG principles into their investment decisions on emerging market equities (figure 6).<sup>12</sup>

### **Discounting the Future**

A related challenge is that the DCF technique places a premium on the immediate and a discount on the future. No matter how large a cash flow is, if it is scheduled to occur far into the future, it will have virtually no impact on a company's present value. Physical climate risk, for example, may be seen as ten to twenty years away and therefore deeply discounted in a typical DCF valuation. Because environmental issues have a longer time frame than many investors' investment horizon, they may well ignore these longer-term environmental issues. Some risks also are shaped by policy uncertainty and the possibility of looming regulation, which again play out on longer time horizons.

Other metrics, such as return on invested capital (ROIC) or earnings per share (EPS), have an even shorter term, requiring information about only the next few years, and therefore they are even less suitable for determining environmental value.

#### **Institutional Barriers**

Many equity investors are not familiar with environmental discourse.<sup>13</sup> Phrases such as "environmental performance," "sustainability value," and "ESG" lack precise definitions. Environmental practitioners and investment analysts do not use common frameworks or techniques. Indeed entirely different regulatory regimes guide each of their bodies of work. Meanwhile, financial incentives are misaligned as companies and analysts are rewarded for short-term profits, even at the expense of long-term sustainability.

#### Figure 6: Survey of Asset Managers, 2008





Source: International Finance Corporation, UN Global Impact and Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs.

10 EMERGING RISK Impacts of Key Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia

### **The Way Ahead: Best Practices**

Despite these barriers, the translation of environmental factors into financial value is making progress, especially in Europe. Innovative research providers now include long-term trends, material extra-financial issues (EFIs), and intangibles in their calculations of fair value. As evidence of this, the Enhanced Analytics Initiative, which has been evaluating the effectiveness of such research since 2004, recently reported "notable advances in the integration of EFIs into financial analysis and their coverage of complex emerging themes."<sup>14</sup>

Extra-financial information can be incorporated into a DCF model in two principal ways.<sup>15</sup> First, an environmental issue can affect the timing, quality, and magnitude of a company's cash flows. For example, if a price on carbon increases costs, the effect of that increase can be quantified and incorporated into the DCF model. Second, an analyst can make a qualitative judgment to adjust a company's risk premium to account for the increased (or decreased) risk caused by the environmental issue. Relative valuation methods, where a company is valued based on how it compares to others in the industry on a metric such as its price-earnings ratio, could also be adjusted to account for environmental factors. If all the companies in one sector are affected by the same issue, their different responses and strategic positions can result in a competitive advantage for one firm over another, which will be reflected in their relative valuation.

A final method is the use of real options.<sup>16</sup> Option analysis can be used when future cash flows are uncertain because they are contingent on the occurrence of specific events.<sup>17</sup> Environmental issues present companies with associated risks and opportunities as well as strategic choices for addressing them. These choices which can either create or destroy a company's value if certain events (such as regulation or the physical impacts of climate change) occur—may be valued using options.



# **Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia and their Impact on Key Sectors**

*In this section, we discuss eight environmental trends affecting emerging Asian economies, the key industrial sectors impacted by each trend, and the type of risk (or opportunity) that is created.* 

We present the trends as aggregate regional trends; country specific trends and impacts follow in section III. Some environmental trends are interrelated, and others, like population growth, exacerbate the impact of other trends. Environmental risks may be understood at two levels of impact: sector level and company level. Sector-specific risks encompass physical, regulatory/legal, and market risks.

- Physical risks arise from a sector's dependence on the physical environment, making some sectors more vulnerable than others.
- Regulatory/legal risks are those that change the operating environment because of government intervention, such as the introduction of a carbon tax.
- Market risks are caused by a change in consumer or investor preferences.

Even though a risk may apply to an entire sector, individual companies will have different levels of exposure to that risk, based on factors like corporate strategy or geographic location. Company-specific risks include operational, litigation, reputation and financing risks.<sup>18</sup> An operational risk occurs when an environmental trend disrupts operations, for example, physical damage to assets arising from extreme weather related to climate change. Litigation risks refer to the threat of litigation

arising from a company's actions, such as chemical spills that endanger human health. Damage to a company's reputation can result from negative environmental news, and may translate into a fall in the company's share price. Financing risks arise when financiers attach a premium to the cost of capital due to the perceived higher risk associated with, for example, a company's poor environmental management.

Within a particular sector, a company's exposure to risk is a function of factors such as its management strategy, value chain, and geographic location. Therefore, some companies in a sector will be able to respond better to emerging risks than others and thus gain a competitive advantage. In addition, some trends themselves may present market opportunities for developing new products and technologies.

The risks and opportunities may be short term (immediate to five years) or long term (more than five years). Short-term impacts typically refer to pricing and costs, while longer-term impacts generally revolve around market demand, changes in consumer preferences, and regulation (table 1). The aggregate trends and their sector specific impacts follow.

Table 1: Examples of Short- and Long-Term Impacts of Environmental Trends

| Trends            | Short-Term Impacts  | Long-Term Impacts  |
|-------------------|---|--|
| Deforestation     | <ul> <li>Shortage and increased prices of raw material</li> <li>Fines</li> <li>Changes in consumer preferences</li> </ul> | • New markets and revenue opportunities  |
| Water scarcity    | <ul> <li>Increased scarcity or cost</li> <li>Greater competition among users</li> </ul>                                   | <ul><li>Shortages</li><li>Regulation</li></ul>   |
| Climate change    | <ul><li>Damage to assets</li><li>Disruption of operations</li></ul>   | <ul><li> Regulation</li><li> New markets and revenue streams</li></ul>                               |
| Food security     | <ul> <li>Higher prices of raw materials</li> <li>Reduced productivity or output</li> </ul>                                | • Shortages  |
| Energy security   | <ul><li>Higher input costs</li><li>Disruption of business operations</li></ul>  | • Changes in consumer preferences  |
| Air pollution     | <ul><li>Lower productivity</li><li>Damage to assets</li></ul>   | <ul><li> Changes in consumer preferences</li><li> Regulation</li></ul>                               |
| Urbanization      | <ul> <li>Increased market demand</li> <li>Decreased productivity</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>New markets and revenue opportunities</li> <li>Magnifies impacts of other trends</li> </ul> |
| Population growth | <ul><li>Larger market size</li><li>Lower cost of labor</li></ul>  | <ul><li>New markets and revenue opportunities</li><li>Magnifies impacts of other trends</li></ul>    |

### Deforestation

- Deforestation is a change of land use from forest cover to another use, often agriculture.<sup>19</sup>
- Although Southeast Asia still contains 16 percent of the world's remaining tropical forests, between 1995 and 2005 the region accounted for 25 percent of global forest loss (figures 7 and 8).<sup>20</sup> Indonesia's forests suffered the greatest loss.
- Deforestation accounted for approximately 17 percent of global GHG emissions in 2004.<sup>21</sup> The continued loss of forests is a global concern, given its impact on climate change. Accordingly, the next iteration of the international climate change agreement after 2012 will likely address deforestation and forest degradation, and also provide incentives to developing countries to manage their forests more sustainably.
- Although the causes of deforestation vary and largely depend on the local area, land conversion (for agriculture and plantations) and logging (both legal and illegal) are the principal culprits in all six focus countries.<sup>22</sup>
- The local effects of deforestation include soil erosion, drought, reduced flood protection, impaired water quality, less food security, and loss of livelihood (table 2). These effects can lead to large human migrations out of deforested areas into cities and towns, putting additional stress on urban infrastructure capacity.

### **Figure 7:** Net change in forested area (1000s hectares) (1990-2005)



Resources Assessment, 2005



#### Figure 8: Original and lost forests, 2006



#### Table 2: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Deforestation

| Sector                            | Type of Risk or<br>Opportunity | Risk or<br>Opportunity   | Notes   |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|---|
| Forest products, construction     | Operational                    | Increased scarcity or cost of<br>inputs, lower quality of<br>inputs              | Pulp and paper mills require operation at full<br>capacity to recover investment costs, typically more<br>than US\$500K. This may lead to a local or regional<br>shortage of raw material for paper and pulp and<br>possibly conflict with the need for long-term<br>concessions from the timber industry.  |
|                                   | Regulatory/legal               | Extraction moratoria, lower<br>quotas, fines, denial or<br>suspension of permits | Forests are increasingly valued for a wider range of<br>ecosystem services (e.g., climate regulation and<br>water filtration) than for only their timber. <sup>a</sup> The<br>next international climate change agreement will<br>likely contain incentives for countries to limit<br>deforestation. New regulations in end markets<br>such as the European Union and United States (the<br>Lacey Act) will seek to limit imports of illegally<br>harvested timber. |
|                                   | Market                         | Changes in consumer<br>preferences, supply chain<br>pressure                     | Retail customers may be concerned about the<br>reputation risk associated with procuring products<br>that may have come from illegal or unsustainably<br>managed forests (see box: Staples and APP).<br>Several certification schemes (e.g., Forest<br>Stewardship Council) differentiate among<br>sustainable wood products in the marketplace.  |
| Agriculture, food and<br>beverage | Operational                    | Reduced output or productivity   | Restrictions on forest conversion may raise the cost<br>of land. Climate change may disrupt weather<br>patterns and also increase the risk of erosion,<br>drought, and floods.  |
| Plantation (e.g. palm oil)        | Regulatory                     | Planting moratoria, denial or<br>suspension of permits                           | The development of palm oil plantations is a major<br>cause of deforestation. Any regulation that seeks<br>to protect natural forests may limit the availability<br>of land, thus forcing the sector either to use the<br>land more efficiently or to restore degraded land<br>with no forest cover.  |

<sup>a</sup> On the importance of ecosystem services to corporations, see World Resources Institute, "Corporate Ecosystem Services Review," 2008; http://www.wri.org/project/ecosystem-services-review.

# Water Scarcity



- Water scarcity is increasingly a problem for parts of India, Indonesia, and Thailand (figure 9).
- Even in those areas with naturally abundant water, the actual amount available may be reduced by water pollution and waste mismanagement. Deforestation also worsens water quality because forests help regulate water quality and flow.
- By altering weather patterns, climate change may mean more rainfall or drought in certain areas than in the past, thereby contributing to unpredictable water cycles and availability.23
- Population growth and urbanization have resulted in a large number of competing users depleting water reserves faster than they can be replenished. India, in particular, is drawing heavily on its already minimal water resources.
- The vast majority of water withdrawals in the six countries are for agricultural use (from 62 percent in Malaysia to 95 percent in Thailand). In Malaysia and Vietnam, industry also is a significant user at 21 and 24 percent, respectively.<sup>24</sup>



#### Figure 9: Annual renewable freshwater supply per capita, 2000

 Table 3: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Scarce Water

| Sector  | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity   | Notes   |
|---|------------------------------|--|---|
| Agriculture, food and<br>beverage, mining, power<br>generation, steel, electronics,<br>and pulp and paper | Operational                  | Increased scarcity or cost of<br>inputs for both products and<br>processes and in the supply<br>chain      | Because all these sectors heavily depend on the<br>use of water in their industrial processes, they may<br>face production disruptions and higher prices. |
|   | Regulatory or legal          | Extraction moratoria, lower<br>quotas, user fees, fines,<br>denial or suspension of<br>permits, litigation | Because water is essential to life, governments will<br>likely intervene to restrict usage when water<br>becomes scarce.                                  |
|   | Reputational                 | Damage to brand or image   | Heavy users or polluters of water are especially at<br>risk as competition over water between industrial<br>and life-sustaining uses intensifies.         |
| Agriculture, manufacturing  | Operational                  | Reduced output or<br>productivity  | The lack of access to potable water endangers the<br>health of the workforce, critical for labor-intensive<br>industries.                                 |

### **Climate Change**

- Due to their long coastlines, low-lying land areas, high population densities, high incidence of poverty, and geographic location, the six focus countries are particularly vulnerable to the physical risks associated with climate change.
- Although not historically responsible for a large share of global GHG emissions (only 8% of cumulative emissions as of 2000), these countries' emissions have been increasing due to mounting energy use, as well as deforestation and changes in land use.<sup>25</sup>
- The intensity of GHG emissions in Malaysia and Indonesia, mostly from deforestation and changes in land use, are close to or above the world average and that of the United States (figure 10).
- The physical effects of climate change are expected to include more frequent and intense droughts, extreme storms, decreased availability of fresh water, rising sea levels, lower crop yields, greater incidence of disease, and loss of species and habitat.<sup>26</sup> These effects are likely to lead to migration and pressure on local resources in already densely populated urban areas.

- All six countries are signatories to the Kyoto protocol, although as non– Annex I parties, they are not bound by specific emissions reduction targets.<sup>27</sup> Because these countries are not responsible for a large share of global emissions but are particularly vulnerable to the effects, their focus is on adaptation, not mitigation.
- India, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam are promoting energy efficiency and GHG mitigation programs, even though none of the six countries has or is currently developing national- or subnational-level climate change regulation. India has a national climate change plan, but it does not include binding targets or other regulatory mechanisms.
- Because even companies within the same sector have widely varying business strategies, management systems, and energy profiles, some will be winners and others losers under any GHG regulatory framework.



#### Figure 10: GHG intensity of focus region compared with that of the U.S. and world average, 2004

<sup>8</sup> EMERGING RISK Impacts of Key Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia

Table 4: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Climate Change

| Sector  | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity  | Notes  |
|---|------------------------------|---|--|
| AII   | Operational                  | Damage to assets, disruption<br>of business operations,<br>increased scarcity or cost of<br>inputs (water, energy), and<br>lower output or productivity | All companies possess physical assets that could<br>be damaged by the physical effects of climate<br>change (i.e., extreme weather). Climate change<br>also will alter temperature and rainfall patterns,<br>and the effects of these changes can ripple<br>throughout companies' supply chains.   |
|   | Regulatory/legal             | Carbon tax import<br>restrictions (in developed<br>country markets)   | Although domestic limits on GHG emissions are<br>unlikely to be implemented in the near future,<br>companies could face external pressure from<br>customers in developed country markets that have<br>adopted emissions reduction targets.   |
| Power generation, forest products, transportation | Regulatory or legal          | Lower quotas, denial or<br>suspension of permits or<br>licenses   | Companies in energy-intensive sectors could be<br>subject to future regulation of GHG emissions,<br>which, by imposing a fee for carbon emissions,<br>would lead to a financial cost either directly<br>(through the company's carbon-intensive<br>manufacturing processes) or indirectly (through<br>energy and/or supply chain costs). |
| Automobile, transportation                        | Market                       | Changing consumer<br>preferences  | The rising cost of transport fuel could spur demand for more fuel-efficient vehicles.  |
| Forest products, construction<br>and engineering  | Market                       | New markets   | Ecosystem services (such as climate regulation),<br>green buildings, energy efficiency, and clean<br>technology, could present new market opportunities.   |

### **Food Security**

- The recent dramatic rise in the global prices of rice and wheat threatens to undo advances in poverty reduction in Southeast Asia.<sup>28</sup> According to the World Bank, the price of staple foods like rice and wheat has climbed 80 percent in the region since 2005.<sup>29</sup>
- Given that poor people spend between 60 to 80 percent of their income on food, they will be hurt the most by high prices (figure 11).<sup>30</sup>
- The reasons for higher food prices include the rising price of oil (affecting transportation and fertilizer costs), adverse weather, greater demand for meat and dairy products as Asian countries become richer, and increased global demand for biofuels, all of which are exacerbated by ineffective agricultural policies and market controls.<sup>31</sup>
- The factors driving up food prices are expected to intensify as populations continue to grow and climate change alters agricultural yields. Prices are expected to remain high through 2015.<sup>32</sup> The populations of the six focus countries depend heavily on rice for a large proportion of their total daily calories. Some nations, such as Vietnam, Thailand, and India, are largely self-sufficient in rice production, whereas others, such as the Philippines, depend more on imports (figure 12).

#### Figure 12: Rice consumption and dependence on imports, 2003



Source: International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), "Recent Trends in the Rice Economy", 2003.



Figure 11: Share of income spent on food and beverages, 2005

Source: Asian Development Bank, "Research Study on Poverty-Specific Purchasing Power Parities for Selected Countries in Asia and the Pacific", 2005.

Table 5: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Food Security

| Sector                                       | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity         | Notes  |
|--|------------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| Agriculture, food and<br>beverage            | Market                       | Higher unit price            | Small-scale, often poor, farmers will likely lose<br>because they lack the means to respond to price<br>trends (i.e., to expand production) and are<br>especially vulnerable if they are net buyers of food.<br>Medium- to large-scale farmers may benefit from<br>higher prices because they are more likely to be<br>able to increase yields to take advantage of price<br>increases. <sup>a</sup> |
| Farming equipment,<br>chemicals (fertilizer) | Market                       | Increased market demand      | Sustained higher prices can lead to expanded farming<br>and investment in technology for higher yields.  |
| Consumer goods                               | Market                       | Decreased market demand      | High food prices means less disposable income to spend on "nonessential" goods.  |
| Agriculture, manufacturing                   | Operational                  | Lower output or productivity | A lack of food endangers the health of the<br>workforce, critical for labor-intensive industries.  |

<sup>a</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Food Prices and Inflation in Developing Asia: Is Poverty Reduction Coming to an End?" April 2008.

# **Energy Security**

- Although energy consumption per capita remains low, the region's rapid economic growth has led to the world's highest demand increases for energy, by both companies and consumers.<sup>33</sup>
- Malaysia's and Thailand's rates of energy consumption per GDP are close to or above the world average (figure 13).
- Because much of the region's energy needs are met by fossil fuels (oil and coal), their economies are vulnerable to rising energy prices (especially those heavily reliant on imports) as well as to pressure from the international community to reduce their GHG emissions.
- All six countries subsidize fuel costs to keep prices low, although Indonesia, Thailand, and Malaysia have recently rolled back their subsidies, resulting in reduced demand.



### Figure 13: Energy dependence of each economy, 2003

Source: World Resources Institute, Earth Trends, 2003.

Table 6: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Energy Security

| Sector   | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity   | Notes  |
|--|------------------------------|--|--|
| All  | Operational                  | Increased cost of input,<br>disruption of business<br>operations   | All companies may face a higher cost of energy,<br>whose impact depends on their energy profile.<br>Companies may also face power shortages and<br>blackouts.  |
| Oil and gas                                    | Operational                  | Higher unit price  | Higher oil prices give companies an economic<br>incentive to undertake more difficult, and<br>potentially more environmentally damaging,<br>exploration projects.  |
| Consumer goods                                 | Market                       | Reduced market demand  | Consumers spend an increasing proportion of their<br>salaries on energy, thus decreasing their demand<br>for other goods. Goods, like plastics, that use oil as<br>a key ingredient will face rising materials costs,<br>but these are likely to be passed on to consumers.      |
| Power generation,<br>automobiles               | Product                      | Changes in consumer<br>preferences (toward cleaner<br>technology and energy<br>sources), higher cost of raw<br>materials | New power plants have become more expensive to<br>build, owing to rising materials costs. Plants using<br>renewable energy sources, such as solar, will pass on<br>these costs to customers in the short term, as the new<br>plants must provide adequate returns for investors. |
| Construction, engineering,<br>power generation | Market                       | Increased market demand  | A new energy infrastructure may be built.  |

### **Air Pollution**

- The average air quality of the six countries is poor (figure 14).
- Poor-quality air damages human health. In 2007 the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that air pollution in Asia was responsible for the premature death of about half a million people each year, due to the exposure of more than a billion people to outdoor air pollutant levels above WHO's guidelines.<sup>34</sup>
- Industry and transportation are the major causes of air pollution. Transportation sources are largely responsible for CO<sub>2</sub> and NOx, while industrial sources are responsible for particulate matter (PM) (figure 15), which is particularly harmful to human health and is linked to heart attacks and asthma.<sup>35</sup>



Figure 14: Levels of particulate matter (PM-10) compared with WHO guidelines, 2007

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "Estimated Deaths & DALYs Attributable to Selected Environmental Risk Factors, by WHO Member State, 2002," 2007.





Note: Country-level data available only for Malaysia.

*Sources: Clean Air Asia, "Country Synthesis Reports: India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines" 2006. World Bank, "Air Quality Studies of Thailand and Vietnam", 2002.*  Table 7: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Air Pollution

| Sector                                     | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity                                     | Notes  |
|--|------------------------------|--|--|
| Agriculture, construction                  | Operational                  | Disruption of business<br>operations, lower productivity | Air pollution can damage human health, affecting<br>workers' (especially outdoor workers) productivity or<br>availability.                                     |
| Real estate                                | Operational                  | Damage to assets   | Air pollution can damage buildings, reducing their value.  |
| Power generation<br>(especially from coal) | Regulatory                   | Increased cost (investment in<br>new technology)         | Local governments will pressure, and perhaps offer<br>financial support to, high-polluting industries to<br>reduce emissions and invest in cleaner technology. |
| Transportation                             | Market                       | Changing consumer<br>preferences (cleaner<br>technology) | Demand for lower emissions vehicles, such as trains<br>and hybrid vehicles, will rise.   |
| Power generation, cement, oil and gas      | Reputational                 | Damage to brand or image                                 | Air pollution can hurt the health of the general population as well as companies' own workers.   |
|  | Litigation                   | Lawsuits   |  |

# Urbanization

- The populations of India, Thailand, and Vietnam are mainly rural, whereas those of Indonesia, Malaysia, and the Philippines are highly concentrated in urban areas.<sup>36</sup>
- The majority of people in the six countries live in cities or towns with a population of less than 500,000, as opposed to so-called mega cities, with a population of 10 million or more (figure 16).
- Urbanization is expected to continue, with some of the migration coming from rural areas and some due to natural increases in the population (figure 17).
- The rise in the urban population does not have to be bad for the environment. If managed correctly, it can have less impact than low-density rural lifestyles do. If the growing urban population is not managed well however, local resources and infrastructure may not be able to support it.<sup>37</sup>

10 million or more

1 to 5 million







6 EMERGING RISK Impacts of Key Environmental Trends in Emerging Asia

#### Table 8: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Urbanization

| Sector   | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity                           | Notes   |
|--|------------------------------|--|---|
| Construction, engineering                      | Market                       | Increased market demand                        | The expansion of cities requires the construction of infrastructure, including housing, roads, and pipes. |
| Power generation                               | Operational                  | Lower cost of transmission<br>and distribution |   |
| Transportation                                 | Market                       | Changing consumer<br>preferences               | Demand for public transportation rises as cities<br>grow and traffic increases.                           |
| All sectors (located in larger<br>urban areas) | Operational                  | Lower productivity                             | In larger cities, air pollution and traffic hurt<br>workers' productivity.                                |

### **Population Growth**

- The growing affluence and consumption of the six countries' burgeoning populations, especially those of India and Indonesia, may exacerbate the negative impacts of the other trends and will increase competition for resources among people and industries (figure 18).
- The combined population of the six countries covered in this report is approximately 1.6 billion, or about 25 percent of the world population in 2008.<sup>38</sup> A significant proportion can be considered poor (figure 19).



Source: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs/Population Division. International Monetary Fund, 2008.

- The average age in several of the countries, notably Vietnam, is low, resulting in a low population dependency ratio.\* Although it currently has the lowest dependency ratio, the Philippines will have the highest by 2050 (figure 20), and consequently, may have difficulty supporting its nonworking population as its proportion of workers shrinks over time.
- The burden of providing resources for a large and increasingly affluent population can exacerbate deforestation, water scarcity, air pollution, climate change, and the problems of food and energy security.





Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators 2005: Labor Markets in Asia: Promoting Full, Productive, and Decent Employment," 2005.



Population Size (millions)

\* The population dependency ratio is the ratio of dependents (people younger than fifteen or older than sixty-four) to the workingage population (those aged fifteen to sixty-four). A rising dependency ratio is a concern in many countries with an aging population, since it becomes difficult for pension and social security systems to provide for a significantly older, nonworking population.

Figure 20: Population dependency ratio, 2006

Table 9: Illustrative Sector Impacts of Population Growth

| Sector   | Type of Risk/<br>Opportunity | Risk/<br>Opportunity  | Notes  |
|--|------------------------------|-----------------------|--|
| Food and beverage, consumer<br>goods, construction,<br>automobiles | Market                       | Increased market size |  |
| Textiles, manufacturing  | Operational                  | Lower cost of labor   | A surplus of labor keeps wages low in low value-<br>added sectors. |

# merging Asian Countries:

In this section, we examine the trends from a country specific context. We explore what we assess to be each country's most relevant environmental trends and their impact on key economic sectors. The impact of a trend such as deforestation depends on a country's geography, natural resources, population, and policy responses.

The level of economic development of the six countries differs significantly. In terms of GDP, India and Vietnam are classified as low-income countries; Indonesia, Philippines, and Thailand are classified as lower-middle income countries; while Malaysia is classified as an upper-middle income country (figure 21). Industry and services each comprise a larger portion of the countries' GDP relative to agriculture, although agriculture is still a significant portion of GDP, particularly in the low-income countries (figure 22).





Source: World Bank, "Key Development Data and Statistics," 2008.

### India

- India has the world's fourth largest economy (2007 nominal GDP: US\$1.09 trillion) and the second highest population (almost 1.2 billion).<sup>39</sup>
- The government played a larger role in the economy until market-oriented economic reforms were introduced in 1991, which encouraged foreign investment and privatized some state-owned enterprises.<sup>40</sup>

| Table 10: Key Trends in India                                      |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|
| Sectors Affected   |  |  |  |
| Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>manufacturing, power generation |  |  |  |
| Power generation, oil and gas, automotive                          |  |  |  |
| Power generation, oil and gas, agriculture                         |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |

#### Figure 23: Economic sectors in India by percentage of GDP, 2007



Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.



### **Water Scarcity**

Experts estimate that by 2020, India's demand for water will exceed all its sources of supply<sup>41</sup> and that by 2050, its gross water availability per capita will fall to as low as 1140m3/yr.<sup>42</sup> A level of water availability of less than 1,700 m3/yr is regarded as a potentially serious constraint.

India's agricultural sector, accounting for almost one-fifth of the country's GDP, is the principal user of the country's water resources. Currently, about one third of India's agricultural land is irrigated, almost double the world average, and if irrigation is expanded, the pressure on water resources will intensify.<sup>43</sup>

Meanwhile, factors such as climate change are diminishing the supply of water (through the recession of the Himalayan glaciers), at the same time as the demand for water is rising owing to increasing industrialization, urbanization, and population growth.<sup>44</sup> India currently does not have a consistent legal framework for dealing with water users' rights, though there is social pressure to favor people over industrial users in conflict situations.<sup>45</sup>

The operational costs in water-intensive sectors, especially those located in water-scarce regions, including agriculture, food and beverage, manufacturing, and power generation will rise as water becomes scarcer, and supplies may well be disrupted.

### Water Scarcity and Coca-Cola In Kerala, India

In 2000, Coca-Cola opened a bottling plant in Palakkad, Kerala, India, which shared its water supply with local people and farmers. By 2002, the local water supply had become depleted or polluted, and the locals blamed Coke. In response, Coke claimed that its treatment of wastewater was adequate and instead blamed the reduced rainfall. Nevertheless, the public perception was that the company was responsible, and the ensuing protests and legal action caused the plant to be closed in 2004. In addition, the state of Kerala banned the manufacturing and consumption of Coke (and Pepsi) in 2006, although this ban was quickly overturned in court.<sup>46</sup>

This is a good example of reputational risk: the actual extent to which Coke, the local farmers, the lack of rainfall, or other factors contributed to the water shortage was irrelevant. Instead, the public perception that Coke was responsible resulted in legal fees, lost sales, and damage to its brand. Coca-Cola now has a water conservation policy to help mitigate the risk of loss of water supply. The policy states that "by 2010, it aims to return all the water it uses in its manufacturing processes back to nature."<sup>47</sup>



India faces a growing challenge in meeting its rapidly increasing energy needs, as it is heavily dependent on fossil fuels, especially coal and oil (figure 24). Although in the short term, the government plans to increase its production of coal and to focus on energy efficiency, in the longer term it plans to gradually stop using fossil fuels.<sup>48</sup>

For a country already facing energy shortages, the expansion of supply and more efficient energy use will be critical to India's continued economic development. India's dependence on imports of fossil fuel (more than 70% of India's oil is imported) will make its expanding energy needs increasingly costly to meet. The Indian government generously subsidizes retail energy prices, although retail oil prices are still relatively high even with subsidies.<sup>49</sup> In early 2008, according to the international press the government was forced to increase retail oil prices by 10 percent, because even subsidized prices had become too expensive to maintain in the face of rising global oil prices.<sup>50</sup>

Companies in all sectors, especially energy-intensive ones like manufacturing, will need to evaluate their energy profile and find ways to reduce costs. India's power generation, oil and gas, and automotive sectors will likely face increasing pressure to invest in cleaner technologies.<sup>51</sup>

#### Figure 24: India's energy mix, 2007



Source: Energy Information Administration, 2007.



Although India's GHG emissions per capita are much lower than the world average and that of developed countries, the country is physically vulnerable to the impacts of climate change.<sup>52</sup> As a result of climate change, India will experience rising sea levels, changing rain patterns, and diminishing water supply. These physical impacts could lower agricultural output (up to 5% for a 1.5°C rise in temperature), which is highly dependent on traditional weather patterns, namely, the annual monsoon season.<sup>53</sup>

India just released its national climate change plan, but it does not establish national targets for either GHG

reductions or energy efficiency. Energy-intensive sectors, however, are already being targeted by India's Bureau of Energy Efficiency, which is developing sector-specific energy efficiency benchmarks, beginning with cement.

A clear regulatory incentive to reduce emissions is conceivable in the future, especially if the United States and other developed countries begin reducing their own emissions more aggressively or provide more financial and technical support to countries like India to reduce emissions. Because they are large emitters, the energy sector (56% of emissions) and the agricultural sector (34% of emissions) will be the principal targets of regulation or other forms of government intervention.<sup>54</sup>

### ndonesia

- Indonesia is the world's fourth most populous country. with 237 million people speaking 250 languages, spread across six thousand inhabited islands.55
- Indonesia's GDP grew by an average of 7 percent between 1987 and 1997, though the country's economy was slow to recover from the 1997/1998 Asian financial crisis.<sup>56</sup>
- The government still plays a significant role in the economy and controls the prices of fuel, rice, and electricity (figure 25).<sup>57</sup> Indonesia thus is at risk for price inflation, as the government struggles to keep pace with global price increases.

| Table 11: Key Trends in Indonesia |   |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| Trend                             | Sector Affected   |
| Food security                     | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>farming equipment, plantations, forest<br>products, construction |
| Deforestation                     | Agriculture, forest products, palm oil  |
| Climate change                    | Agriculture, food and beverage, power generation, transportation, oil and gas                       |
| Air pollution                     | Automotive, manufacturing, construction   |

#### Figure 25: Indonesia's economic sectors by percentage of GDP, 2007



Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.



### **Food Security**

Rising global food prices could lead to social unrest in Indonesia. Even though it is the world's third largest producer of rice, according to press reports it recently banned almost all private exports in an effort to keep prices low for domestic consumers.<sup>58</sup> But as global prices rise, the government's budget will be strained to maintain current price levels for subsidized commodities like rice. Indonesia's population is vulnerable to price increases of staple products, because almost 5 percent of the population lives on less than \$2 per day, and nearly 10 percent survive on less than \$1 per day.<sup>59</sup> Indeed, the government fears food riots and other actions, and in its 2008 budget it increased the amount it would spend on

food subsidies.<sup>60</sup> Another part of the government's plan to lessen its burden on imports is to achieve self-sufficiency in rice, which it claims it will do by the end of 2008.61

Self-sufficiency typically means increasing efficiency and productivity in the agricultural sector to offset the effects of unforeseen climatic events. But, it may also entail expanding agricultural land area, which would increase competition for land with forestry and construction companies. One result would be that companies producing fertilizers, high-yield seeds, and farming equipment might benefit from expanding and intensifying farming.


Indonesia's continuing deforestation and land conversion practices are helping increase the concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Even though half of Indonesia is covered by forests (which make up 10% of the world's forest cover), between 2000 and 2005 the country lost an estimated 0.7 million hectares of forest to deforestation.<sup>62</sup> This is a dramatic decrease from that of the period 1990 to 2000, but deforestation and land conversion still remain a significant environmental problem.<sup>63</sup>

In 2005, Indonesia was ranked the world's third largest emitter of greenhouse gases, after the United States and China, largely as a result of deforestation, peat bog degradation, and forest fires.<sup>64</sup> The forces leading to deforestation have intensified as the global thirst for palm oil for use in the biofuel, cosmetic, and food industries is intensifying the competition for land, often leading to the clearing of virgin rainforest.<sup>65</sup>

In 2007, Indonesia claimed to have overtaken Malaysia as the world's leading producer of palm oil (figure 26).<sup>66</sup> According to press reports, the country's domestic demand for palm oil is rising as well, as it tries to mandate the use of a 2.5 percent blend of biodiesel, to help lower its consumption of petroleum.<sup>67</sup> An estimated 80 percent of Indonesia's timber is harvested illegally.<sup>68</sup>



Figure 26: Land area of Indonesia's palm oil plantations, 2007

Rampant overharvesting will reduce Indonesia's supply of high-quality timber, hurting sectors such as pulp and paper and wood products which depend on timber. The palm oil industry will have less access to land for expansion if efforts, such as global mechanisms to reduce land-based emissions, are made to preserve forests. The palm oil sector is subject also to supply chain pressures to stop illegal timber harvesting. Some global companies, like Unilever, have committed to purchasing "sustainable" palm oil, which by definition, should not contribute to deforestation.<sup>69</sup>

#### Staples and APP: Supply Chain Pressures on Emerging Market Companies

Staples, the U.S.-based world's largest retailer of office supplies, canceled its contract with a Singaporebased supplier, Asia Pulp & Paper Co. Ltd. (APP), in January 2008 because of its poor environmental performance. Although Staples bought only about 5 percent of its paper products from APP, it determined that the company was not improving its environmental management.

#### **Environmental concerns**

APP owns and operates one of Asia's largest pulp mills in Sumatra, Indonesia. Various reports have linked the company to illegal logging in virgin rainforests. Thirdparty audits have shown that a large concentration of the fiber in APP's products comes from high-conservation-value forests. Because Staples' paper procurement policy is intended to protect such forests by ensuring that its paper-based products contain an average of 30 percent postconsumer recycled content, APP's products were deemed unacceptable.

#### **Staples takes action**

Staples first tried to persuade APP to improve its environmental practices, including helping it create an action plan to become 100 percent dependent on plantations. But when APP changed management, it appeared to waiver from its previous commitments. Third-party audits showed no improvement, and when Staples investigated, the company became less forthright about its practices. Staples finally decided to sever its relationship with APP.

#### Value creation

APP has two publicly traded subsidiaries (mills): Pabrik Kertas Tjiwi Kimia Tbk (TKIM.JK) and Indah Kiat Pulp & Paper Tbk (INKP.JK). Both are traded on the Jakarta (Indonesian) stock exchange. Staples' share price did rise slightly after the company announced the end of its relationship; however, this rise was not significant, especially when examined over a longer time span or when compared with its peers' price movements. Many factors influence share prices, and negative news often has a more pronounced impact than does positive news.

Whether or not the stock market immediately recognized the benefits of this outcome, for Staples the ending of its relationship with APP was an important strategic decision. Continuing such a relationship would have damaged the integrity of Staples' paper policy and risked its reputation. Moreover, sudden negative news could have lowered its share price and/or damaged its relationships with customers. This episode thus gave Staples an opportunity not only to diversify its supplier base away from an underperforming company but also to turn the fiber source for some of its paper-based products away from trees. Staples now uses waste from cotton production to make file folders.

APP received bad press from the international media. Inevitably, though, other buyers with policies less stringent than Staples' will continue to buy from the company. Nevertheless, it is important to recognize that customers, like Staples, with strong environmental commitments will send strong market signals by creating conditional relationships that demand that certain standards be met. Supply chain pressure constitutes an important force for positive changes in corporate environmental practices in emerging markets.

Notes: This case was prepared with input from Mark Buckley, Vice President, Environmental Affairs, Staples Inc.



Given its volcanic geography and 54,716 km of coastline, Indonesia is already prone to violent natural disasters.<sup>70</sup> Between 2003 and 2005, the Indonesian government counted 1,430 natural disasters, including floods, landslides, and other geological disasters, whose social effects were exacerbated by Indonesia's high incidence of poverty.<sup>71</sup> Climate change is expected to increase the rate and severity of such events as well as result in more rainfall and flooding in coastal areas due to rising sea levels and temperatures. These changes, in turn, could threaten Indonesia's food security and livelihoods and raise the incidence of disease. Nonetheless, Indonesia is unlikely to decrease its emissions, given its dependence on (and

planned expansion of) coal-fired power plants, as well as its continued deforestation and land conversion practices.

Those of Indonesia's sectors that depend directly on the environment, such as agriculture, tourism, and forestry, are vulnerable to physical risks. The agricultural sector, on which many Indonesians depend financially, and related sectors such as food and beverage will be significantly affected by lower yields. GHG-intensive sectors, such as electric utilities and transportation, may be altered by regulatory and market based measures aimed at reducing emissions, although domestic regulation is unlikely in the short term.

#### Extreme Weather "Submerging" Indonesian Industry

Over the past ten years, Indonesia has had an unusually high volume of natural disasters. In fact, government statistics show that Indonesia averages as many as 2.7 disasters—from floods to earthquakes to volcanic eruptions-per day each year! But imagine if things got worse.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) estimates that as a result of climate change, there is a more than 90 percent probability of heavier rain events and a more than 66 percent likelihood of extremely high sea levels globally. Because Indonesia is situated on an archipelago of 17,508 islands, its industrial sectors would be severely affected by any of these events. A World Bank report cites predictions of 2 to 3 percent more rainfall per year and a mean sea level rise of 0.57 centimeters per year in Jakarta Bay.<sup>72</sup> Rachman Witoelar, Indonesia's environmental minister, even predicts that by 2030, two thousand of Indonesia's islands would be submerged from rising sea levels.73

The floods in Aceh in December 2006 affected a half million people and created US\$210 million in damage and losses, primarily in the infrastructure, housing, and agriculture sectors.<sup>74</sup> Three months later, the February 2007 floods left another half million people homeless and caused perhaps as much as US\$1 billion in economic damage.75

Share prices of Indonesia's biggest telecommunications carrier, Telkom, its largest retail bank, Bank Central Asia, and its largest automotive conglomerate, Astra International, all fell after reports of the extensive damage to these companies' infrastructure.<sup>76</sup> Paskah Suzetta, Indonesia's national planning minister, stated that industry and trade GDP growth was expected to decrease by 0.59 percent as a result of the February 2007 flood. Clearly, extreme weather patterns can have immediate and devastating effects on a country's economy.

| <b>Effects of Climate Char</b>  | ige                  |
|---|----------------------|
| Phenomenon  | Likelihood           |
| Warmer days.<br>Less cold days/nights   | Virtually<br>certain |
| More warm spells and<br>heatwaves   | Very likely          |
| More heavy rain<br>events   | Very likely          |
| More areas hit by<br>drought  | Likely               |
| More intense tropical<br>cyclones   | Likely               |
| More extreme sea<br>levels (not tsunamis)   | Likely               |
| Probability definitions:<br>Virtually certain: over 99%<br>Very likely: over 90%<br>Likely: over 66% Source: IPCC |                      |



### **Air Pollution**

Air pollution has become so serious in Indonesia that it is already having major repercussions on human health. Moreover, the economic costs of air pollution are estimated to be US\$400 million per year, a figure estimated to rise into the billions in the next few years.<sup>77</sup> Indonesia's fourth leading cause of death is lower respiratory infections, largely caused by exposure to polluted air, whose main sources are vehicles, industry, domestic sources, and forest fires, with different sources responsible for different types of gases.78

The Indonesian government's efforts to curb air pollution may result in higher costs to polluting sectors, such as motorcycle, automobile, and manufacturing. Investing in new, or retrofitting existing, equipment likely will be financially supported by government through taxes or other incentives. Sectors located in highly polluted cities like Jakarta, with outdoor workers, such as in construction, will find worker productivity and recruitment to be more expensive.

# Na aysia

- Malaysia is classified as a newly industrialized country, and it has the highest GDP per capita of all the countries examined in this report.<sup>79</sup>
- The Malaysian government controls the prices of 30 percent of its goods. Its current plans are to refocus the economy toward higher-technology products, with the goal of becoming a fully developed economy by 2020.<sup>80</sup>
- Malaysia also occupies a strategic geographic position as one of three countries controlling the Strait of Malacca, arguably the world's most important shipping lane.

| Table 12: Key Trends in Malaysia |  |  |
|----------------------------------|--|--|
| Trend                            | Sector Affected  |  |
| Food Security                    | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>farming equipment, plantations, forest<br>products, construction    |  |
| Deforestation                    | Agriculture, forest products, palm oil   |  |
| Water Scarcity                   | Agriculture, food and beverage, power<br>generation, electronics manufacturing,<br>palm oil processing |  |





Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.

# **Food Security**

Malaysia now imports a third of its rice; rising global commodity prices may lead to further deforestation, to make room for more rice fields. Since the 1980s, Malaysia's production of rice has fallen, whereas that of fruits and vegetables, often bound for export, has risen substantially.<sup>81</sup> Owing to the recent rise in food prices, Malaysia reportedly announced a plan to spend US\$1.3 billion to turn Sarawak, home to a tropical rainforest, into a "rice bowl."<sup>82</sup>

The Malaysian government's plan to increase domestic rice production may affect several sectors. Turning tropical rainforest into rice paddies will reduce the amount of land available to the forestry, palm oil (exports worth US\$13.6 billion in 2007), and related sectors, potentially making it more costly for them to expand.<sup>83</sup> As the agricultural sector expands, firms producing high-yield seeds, fertilizer, and farming equipment will benefit from the higher sales.



Malaysia has one of the world's highest rates of deforestation. Although forests still cover 63.6 percent of the country (though only 12 percent are considered pristine), Malaysia's forest cover has fallen by 7 percent since 1990, with even greater losses between 1950 and 1990.<sup>84</sup>

As the world's largest exporter of tropical hardwood, logging still is a major contributor to deforestation, even though logging activity has slowed in recent years, as many original forests have already been harvested and now only certain trees are targeted for cutting.<sup>85</sup> The major threat to Malaysia's remaining forests is forest clearing for agriculture and palm oil plantations (figure 28). As in Indonesia, the palm oil industry will have less access to land for expansion if efforts to preserve Malaysia's forests, such as global mechanisms aimed at reducing land-based emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, intensify. Moreover, the Malaysian government has recently made rice production a priority in Sarawak, which will limit the amount of land available for palm oil plantations in this region. The palm oil sector is also subject to supply chain pressures to stop planting on forested land, as some global companies, like Unilever, have committed to purchasing "sustainable" palm oil.<sup>86</sup> The sector, thus, may be forced to focus on increasing yields on existing land, as opposed to continually expanding into forests.

#### Figure 28: Planted area of palm oil plantations in Malaysia (2007)



Water Scarcity

Although Malaysia is rich in water resources, the northwest, where much of the country's industry is located, has relatively little water. This region's recent scarcity of water has been attributed to population growth, urbanization, industrialization, and the expansion of irrigated agriculture.<sup>87</sup> The geography of this area also means that it is subject to seasonal water deficits, which have resulted in conflicts among the users.<sup>88</sup> In addition, the northwest's high concentration of urban, agricultural, and industrial land use has led to degradation in water quality. Sixty percent of Malaysia's polluted rivers are located near industrial areas, which translates into less availability and higher costs for filtering.<sup>89</sup> Less availability of clean water will lead to more competition for access and higher costs for water-dependent sectors, such as agriculture, electronics manufacturing, and palm oil processing. The main sources of water pollution in Malaysia are domestic and industrial sewage, effluent from palm oil mills, rubber factories, and animal husbandry.<sup>90</sup> As clean water becomes more valuable, those sectors contributing to poor water quality will likely be forced to retrofit, invest in new equipment, or pay higher fees.

# Philippines

- The population of the Philippines is 91 million, plus at least 8 million Filipinos living outside the country. In 2007, remittances from overseas Filipinos totaled US\$17 billion, or 12 percent of GDP.<sup>91</sup>
- English is the Philippines' official language, and the country is the third largest English-speaking country in the world.
- Economically, the Philippines has underperformed its neighbors, owing to its smaller manufacturing sector, fewer exports and investments, and poor infrastructure and governance (figure 29).

| Table 13: Key Trends in the Philippines |   |  |
|---|---|--|
| Trend                                   | Sector Affected   |  |
| Food security                           | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>farming equipment, plantations, forest<br>products, construction |  |
| Deforestation                           | Agriculture, forest products, palm oil  |  |
| Climate change                          | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>manufacturing, power generation,<br>transportation. Oil and gas  |  |
| Air pollution                           | Automotive, manufacturing,<br>construction, power generation, oil and<br>gas, cement, chemical      |  |

Figure 29: Key economic sectors by percentage of GDP in the Philippines, 2007



Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.

# **Food Security**

In the current crisis of rising global food prices, the Philippines has been among the countries hardest hit, since it is the world's largest rice importer, importing about 10 percent of its national requirement (figure 30).

Illustrative of how serious the situation has become, the press reports that rice hoarders can be charged with economic sabotage, punishable by life imprisonment.<sup>92</sup> The Philippines' domestic rice-growing capacity is declining, mostly due to land conversion, while its population continues to grow.<sup>93</sup> In response, the government reportedly plans to allocate another 1.1 million hectares for rice production and to provide more than US\$1 billion for fertilizer, seeds, irrigation, and infrastructure like roads and postharvest facilities.<sup>94</sup>

In the meantime, the government will subsidize the cost of imports. The country's plan to expand and intensify rice farming, however, may be tempered by any further changes in climate.

Depending on the location of the land that the government decides to allocate to agricultural production, other competing users (such as construction companies) will have less access to land. Meanwhile, the agricultural sector (14% of GDP), including farmers and companies producing fertilizer, seeds, equipment, and other supporting products, will benefit from the government's investment in, and support for, the sector.



Climate Change

With its seven thousand islands and 34,000 km of coastline, the Philippines is geographically vulnerable to the effects of climate change, such as tropical cyclones, excessive rains, landslides, intense typhoons, floods, mudflows, forest fires, droughts, and a reduction in water resources. The Philippines has given priority to adaptation measures, as opposed to mitigation, given that it is not responsible for a large share of global emissions. The government has also been promoting energy efficiency in energy-intensive sectors such as transportation and agriculture.

The sector most affected by climate change, and vital to the country's food security, is agriculture. Upland farmers who rely on rainfall for their water supply will be particularly affected by any change in rain patterns caused by climate change. Agricultural productivity, however, may be enhanced in other areas with increased rainfall. There will be more severe storms, which can damage agricultural land as well as buildings and infrastructure.

The effects of climate change may limit the potential growth of the tourism sector if there is less international air travel and more extreme weather.<sup>95</sup> With respect to mitigation, the government is targeting energy-intensive sectors, like power generation, transportation, and manufacturing, for more efficiency. The government may even underwrite investments in more efficient technology. High-emissions sectors like cement and metal processing may also be targeted for upgrades of emissions control technology. Renewable energy technologies, such as geothermal, would create opportunities for both investors and energy companies.<sup>96</sup>



Deforestation in the Philippines has been severe. Once 95 percent of the country was covered by forests, but now forest cover has been reduced by an estimated 97 percent, as figure 31 shows in green.<sup>97</sup>

Whereas forestry accounted for 1.7 percent of the Philippines' GDP in 1986, its share had fallen to a miniscule 0.1 percent by 2006.<sup>98</sup> This deforestation was caused by illegal logging and land conversion for urban use.<sup>99</sup> In addition to representing lost economic opportunities—like carbon sequestration, among other valuable uses—the loss of forests is threatening the country's rich biodiversity as species lose their natural habitats.<sup>100</sup> Other consequences include increased vulnerability to floods and droughts, as well as soil erosion and groundwater depletion.

The forestry industry in the Philippines has already shrunk as a result of unsustainable logging practices and land conversion. To preserve the country's remaining natural forests, the industry must engage in more sustainable practices.





Source: Food and Agriculture Organization, "Forest Cover Map: Philippines," 2005.





### **Air Pollution**

The Philippines' urban areas are home to most of its people (65%) and industry (47.3% of manufacturing facilities are located in metropolitan Manila), which has degraded local air quality.<sup>101</sup> Poor air quality is estimated to cost the country US\$1.5 billion per year in urban health care costs, mostly from premature death and chronic respiratory illnesses.<sup>102</sup> In response, the Philippine government enacted its Clean Air Act in 1999 in an effort to improve air quality, and it includes improving vehicle emissions inspection and maintenance, as well as strengthening regulatory enforcement.<sup>103</sup> The government has offered some companies tax incentives or loans to install pollution control devices and is also said to be in favor of imposing fees for emissions.

The Philippine government has already required companies in the power generation, oil and gas, cement and chemical sectors to install continuous emissionsmonitoring systems, which has necessitated investment by companies in these sectors but which is at least partially supported financially by the government.<sup>104</sup> As the government explores ways to further improve air quality, companies in high-emitting sectors will likely have to make further investments in clean technology to avoid emissions fees or other regulatory costs.



Manila, Philippines

# Thailand

- Thailand's economy (figure 32) is highly dependent on exports, which account for more than 70 percent of GDP, concentrated in the automobile, petrochemical, and electronics sectors.<sup>105</sup>
- Although the Thai economy was hurt by the Asian financial crisis in the late 1990's, a tsunami in 2004, and a coup in 2006, the country's economy appears to have recovered, largely owing to exports.

| Table 14: Key trends in Thailand |  |  |
|----------------------------------|--|--|
| Trend                            | Sector Affected  |  |
| Climate change                   | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>manufacturing, power generation,<br>transportation, oil and gas |  |
| Water scarcity                   | Agriculture, food and beverage, power generation, electronics manufacturing                        |  |
| Deforestation                    | Agriculture, forest products, tourism  |  |
| Energy security                  | Power generation, oil and gas, automotive  |  |





Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.



### **Climate Change**

Due to both its coastal geography and its population distribution, Thailand is vulnerable to the effects of climate change. A rise in temperature and sea level will increase the incidence of floods and droughts.

Thailand's population is still largely rural, concentrated in the rice-growing areas of the central, northeastern, and northern regions. In fact, about a third of the population lives in the northeast, an area already prone to floods and droughts but crucial to the country's food production, as it contains half the country's rice fields.<sup>106</sup> Accordingly, Thailand's mitigation efforts will likely focus on the energy, forestry, and agricultural sectors and include changing building codes for energy efficiency, reforestation projects, energy audits for industrial motors, and the use of mineral fertilizers.<sup>107</sup> Thailand's production of rice and other food is vulnerable to the effects of climate change, threatening the country's self-sufficiency in rice. The largest emitters of GHGs in Thailand are the power generation, transportation, and forestry sectors. The government would likely intervene first in these sectors. In the short term, when equipment is replaced or processes are changed, any mitigation efforts will raise the costs for companies in these sectors. In addition, changes in the weather and gas prices, as well as infrastructure damage caused by extreme weather events, may hurt the country's thriving tourism sector.



Thailand has one of Asia's lowest annual availability of renewable water resources per capita, making the availability and quality of water an important environmental and economic issue.<sup>108</sup> The northeast where, again, a third of the population lives and most of the rice is grown, suffers frequent droughts and floods. To manage the scarcity of water in these regions, experts believe that Thailand will have to begin to transport water from abundant to scarce areas. This will mean higher costs for water in scarce regions, especially as oil prices continue to rise.<sup>109</sup> In addition, the government is likely to implement a water demand management strategy that would clarify the rights and liabilities of users and subject them to taxes.  $^{110}\,$ 

Thailand's most important manufacturing sectors, such as computers and electronics, as well as its vital agricultural sector (11% of GDP), are highly dependent on water. Consequently, they will likely face higher waterrelated costs. This rise in rates will likely also encourage water-dependent companies to invest in more waterefficient equipment and processes.



Thailand has lost a significant amount of its natural forest cover (figure 33). In 1961, forests covered 53 percent of Thailand's land area, but now this figure is 28 percent, a dramatic loss, due mainly to the conversion of land to agricultural and urban areas and logging, both legal and illegal.<sup>111</sup> Because of government intervention, the rate of deforestation has fallen to 0.6 percent per year, but the pressures remain as Thailand continues to industrialize and its population continues to grow.<sup>112</sup>

Most of Thailand's forests have been lost, and the sector's long-term viability in this country is precarious. The tourism sector is heavily reliant on the country's natural beauty and thus also has a stake in preserving Thailand's forests.



Thailand is highly dependent on fossil fuels, mostly imported, to meet its energy needs, thereby making it vulnerable to rising oil, coal, and natural gas prices.

In 2005, the Thai government introduced its National Energy Strategy to redirect the country's energy sources toward renewables and to support the development of new technologies for energy conservation.

As Thailand expands its domestic sources, those companies developing the country's renewable energy sector, as well as producing or installing energy-efficient technology, will likely benefit from government support and financial incentives.

Figure 33: Thailand's remaining forests, 2005



Source: Food and Agriculture Organization, "Forest Cover Map: Thailand," 2005.

Figure 34: Thailand's energy mix, 2007



Source: Energy Information Administration, 2007.





- Vietnam has one of the world's fastest-growing economies. Its industrial production has led to recent annual GDP growth rates of more than 7 percent and, in 2007, GDP grew by an astounding 17 percent.<sup>113</sup>
- The country began transitioning from a centrally planned to a market economy in 1986, though it remains socialist at the political level.
- The rapid privatization of Vietnam's state-owned companies has been dramatic. The private sector, which did not exist twenty years ago, now accounts for more than 60 percent of GDP.<sup>114</sup>

| Table 15: Key Trends in Vietnam |  |  |
|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Trend                           | Sector Affected  |  |
| Climate change                  | Agriculture, food and beverage,<br>manufacturing, power generation,<br>transportation, oil and gas,<br>forest products |  |
| Deforestation                   | Agriculture, forest products   |  |
| Air pollution                   | Automotive, manufacturing, construction, steel, power generation   |  |





Source: Asian Development Bank, "Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2008: Country Tables," 2008.



## **Climate Change**

Experts predict that Vietnam will be one of the countries most hurt by climate change.<sup>115</sup> Vietnam's 3,260 km coastline and two of the world's largest low-lying deltas make it highly vulnerable. A rise in sea level of only one meter could inundate almost 10 percent of the country and displace more than 22 million people.<sup>116</sup> Experts have determined that in the past decade, the country already experienced a small rise in temperature and sea level, greater variability in its rainfall, and more frequent storms and floods.<sup>117</sup>

Vietnam is currently developing a national strategy to address climate change, which may include reducing the country's reliance on fossil fuels, launching reforestation

projects, and promoting energy efficiency. Experts recently noted that climate change already has damaged many of Vietnam's economic sectors, including agriculture (20% of GDP), forestry, aquaculture, hydroelectric power, oil and gas production, and sea transportation.<sup>118</sup> As the physical effects of climate change intensify, these sectors will likely be significantly financially affected. The government's mitigation plan will likely target those sectors with high GHG emissions and force them to invest in cleaner technologies. This would present opportunities to bring more energy-efficient and less carbon-intensive technologies to market. likely with some government support.



Rapid deforestation in Vietnam is now threatening some key economic sectors. More than 60 percent of the country was originally covered by forests. Experts estimate that deforestation - caused by war, logging, population growth, energy production, and land conversion - has lowered that figure to somewhere between 10 to 30 percent today (figure 36).<sup>119</sup> In response to this loss, the government intends to increase forest coverage by 5 million hectares.<sup>120</sup>

For Vietnam, a major concern is illegal logging, which has put the global forestry industry's long-term viability at risk. Given the prevalence of illegal logging in Vietnam, the country's forestry sector could lose sales as the global demand for legally sourced wood products rises. But sourcing from legal plantations would increase costs and make it difficult for the sector to maintain current production rates. Plantation forestry in Vietnam is expensive because land suitable for plantations is already in use, and the remaining available land is scattered, which would increase the costs of harvest and transport.



The polluted air in Vietnam's two main cities, Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City, is having major impacts on both the inhabitants' health and the economy. A recent study of Ho Chi Minh City showed that more than 90 percent of children under the age of five suffer from respiratory illnesses.<sup>121</sup> Transportation and industry are the major causes of air pollution, as few people take public transit (only 3% in Ho Chi Minh City) and motorbikes are the dominant form of transportation.<sup>122</sup> Vietnam does have vehicle emission standards, but they are weak compared with those of developed countries. Certain industries have been singled out as the largest sources of certain gases: construction (total suspended particulates), steel production (CO<sub>2</sub>), and power plants (NO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, and HC pollutants).<sup>123</sup>

If the Vietnamese government decides to address the country's air-quality issues, these sectors would likely be targeted to make investments in cleaner technology. Standards and measures already are in place to control air pollution in certain sectors. For example, construction companies face fines in Hanoi for sites that create dust pollution.<sup>124</sup>







Source: Food and Agriculture Organization, "Forest Cover Map: Vietnam", 2005.

# Corporate Environmental and Sociel Reporting In Elegenging Asia

As we have seen, the impacts of environmental degradation are already being felt in Asia, and are increasingly relevant for companies' bottom lines. The main vehicle for revealing companies' performance, and a key tool for investors, is corporate sustainability reporting (CSR), covering environmental, social and related economic issues. While such reporting is now commonplace in Europe, the U.S., and other developed markets, it still lags behind in emerging economies.

*In a separate study, "*Undisclosed Risk: Corporate Environmental and Social Reporting in Emerging Asia *", WRI examined the corporate environmental and social disclosure practices of the ten largest companies (by stock market capitalization) in India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam. In this section, we present some salient points from that study on the state of extra-financial corporate disclosure and its integration into company valuations in our six focus countries.* 

The ten largest companies in each country included both multinational and national businesses, and covered a variety of sectors ranging from resource-based energy and gas, and mining and oil corporations to service sector transportation, banking, and telecommunications to manufacturing sector consumer goods. The companies were ranked according to a four point criteria developed by WRI which draws on guidelines from the Global Reporting Initiative<sup>125</sup> and from the international consultancy SustainAbility's Global Reporters work.<sup>126</sup>

#### Asian Companies and Investors: Fact File

- Half the companies surveyed are concentrated in three sectors. Banks accounted for 20 percent of all companies surveyed; oil and gas and utilities each accounted for 15 percent.
- Only three of the companies surveyed are multinationals.
- The majority of investors in the six focus countries' stock exchanges are domestic (average of 58 percent) and institutional (average of 74 percent).

#### **Reporting Evaluation Results**

Indian companies had the best English language environmental and social disclosure, and much of it is integrated in company annual reports rather than in separate CSR reports (figure 37). Many of the Indian companies surveyed are globally competitive firms. As their reporting is also intended for stakeholders outside the country, these companies are more likely to adopt global best practices in environmental and social reporting. English is also an official business language. Environmental and social reporting in Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, and Thailand, was limited and focused mostly on community action and philanthropy in areas such as education, disaster relief, and public health. Vietnamese companies had the least progressive disclosure, with many companies providing no information on their environmental or social impacts.



#### **Other Key Findings**

- In Asia, the concept of "corporate social responsibility" seems to be understood largely as referring to the firm's philanthropic activities in the community. The content of their disclosure is likely to be more useful to stakeholder groups such as local communities and employees than to investors. Part of this is due to the fact that, guided by a collectivist and community oriented culture, Asian companies are stronger on the social aspects of the environmental, social and governance (ESG) agenda, and therefore have more to report on the social aspects.
- The majority of environmental and social information disclosed by the sixty companies surveyed is of limited relevance to the investment community. It does not meet investors' needs for time horizons beyond 12 months, forward looking data sets, and explanations of the materiality of environmental and social issues in business terms. The lack of financially relevant information means relevant sustainability risks are, in effect, hidden from those who invest in a company's stock.
- Environmental and social reporting in the six focus countries has improved in recent years through the efforts of national securities regulators, accounting professional associations and others.
   Mandatory drivers, such as stock exchange listing requirements, have provided a good first step. But these requirements have not been sufficiently prescriptive to result in environmental and social reporting that meets investor needs. The business reasons for environmental and social reporting, such as reputation, supply chain or stakeholder demand, have been stronger drivers for quality reporting.
- Some patterns emerged among companies with above average reporting. In many cases, either the company operates in a sector with high environmental risks, such as oil and gas; or, the company is a subsidiary of a large multinational company headquartered in a developed country; or, the company has ambitions to compete globally; or may be responding to supply chain reporting requirements. In these situations, external stakeholder demands have a high and positive impact on reporting quality.
- Each country, with the exception of Vietnam, has in place some mechanism - regulations, codes, awards, support organizations, or market initiatives - that encourages environmental and social reporting. On one end of the regulatory spectrum, the Malaysian stock exchange requires all listed companies to report publicly on their environmental and social performance, though the form the reporting can take is flexible. On the other end, Vietnam has no regulations relating to corporate sustainability reporting.
- Overall, in all six countries, more complete reporting would rebalance the information dissymmetry and thereby would help increase the flow of capital to environmentally and socially sustainable companies, as well as the likelihood of superior investment returns for investors.

Sources: World Resources Institute, based on evaluations of company data.

#### Sources Consulted for this Report

For this report, the authors reviewed an extensive number of internal sources, including WRI's own Earth Trends and CAIT databases, and consulted with senior WRI staff working on climate, forestry, and ecosystem services. Externally, the authors primarily turned to reports of the World Bank, ADB, IMF, UN, and IFC, as well as data from the national stock exchanges in the six focus countries.

#### Internal

#### **Reports**

- Andrew Aulisi, Amanda Sauer, Fred Wellington, "Trees in the Greenhouse: Why Climate Change is Transforming the Forest Products Business", 2008.
- Ceres, Fred Wellington and Amanda Sauer, "Framing Climate Risk in Portfolio Management", 2005.
- Citigroup Equity Research, Andrew Aulisi, Fred Wellington, "Climatic Consequences", 2007.
- JP Morgan Securities, Piet Klop and Fred Wellington, "Watching Water: A Guide to Evaluating Corporate Risks in a Thirsty World", 2008.
- Craig Hanson, Janet Ranganathan, John Finisdore, Charles Iceland, "The Corporate Ecosystem Services Review: Guidelines for Identifying Business Risks & Opportunities Arising from Ecosystem Change", 2008.
- Donald Reed, "Stalking the Elusive Business Case for Corporate Sustainability", 2001.
- Robert Repetto and Duncan Austin, "Pure Profit: The financial implications of environmental performance", 2000.
- World Resources Institute, United Nations Environment Programme, World Business Council for Sustainable Development, "Tomorrow's Markets: Global trends and their implications for business", 2002.

#### Data

- Climate Analysis Indicators Tool (CAIT)
- Earth Trends

#### **External**

#### Reports

- Asian Development Bank, "Urbanization and Sustainability in Asia," 2006; "Food Prices and Inflation in Developing Asia: Is Poverty Reduction Coming to an End?" 2008.
- Asian Development Bank and Clean Air Asia, "Country Synthesis Reports on Air Quality Management," 2006.
- ASrIA, "Taking Stock," 2006.
- European Centre for Corporate Engagement, "Use of Extra-Financial Information by Research Analysts and Investment Managers," March 2007.
- Gordon Hagart and Ivo Knoepfel, onValues Ltd., "Emerging Markets Investments: Do Environmental, Social and Governance Issues Matter?" November 2007.
- Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, "Sustainable Asia 2005 and Beyond," 2005; "Top News on the Environment in Asia," 2008.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report," 2007.
- International Finance Corporation, UN Global Compact, and Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs, "New Frontiers in Emerging Markets Investment: Who Cares Wins," July 5, 2007.
- World Bank, "East Asia Environment Monitor Series," 2003–2008.

#### Data

- Asian Development Bank
- Bombay Stock Exchange
- Bursa Malaysia
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
- Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange
- Indonesia Stock Exchange
- International Monetary Fund
- National Stock Exchange of India
- Philippine Stock Exchange
- Stock Exchange of Thailand
- United Nations Population Division
- World Bank
- World Federation of Exchanges

#### Interviews

- Viraal Balsari, Sustainable Development, ABN AMRO Bank N.V., India
- Will Beloe, Program Manager for Sustainability, International Finance Corporation (IFC) East Asia and Pacific, Philippines
- Melissa Brown, Former Executive Director, ASrIA, Hong Kong
- Mark Buckley, Vice President, Environmental Affairs, Staples Inc., USA
- Sean Gilbert, Technical Director, Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Netherlands
- Subir Gokarn, Chief Economist, Standard & Poor's Asia-Pacific, India
- Allan Goss, Assistant Finance Professor, Ryerson University, Canada
- Ivo Knoepfel, Managing Director, onValues, Switzerland
- Maria Karla Quizon, Program Manager, Environmental and Social Sustainability, International Finance Corporation (IFC), Vietnam
- Maria Fatima Reyes, Chair, Sustainability Reporting and Assurance Committee, Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountant (PICPA), Philippines
- Rajesh Srivastava, Managing Director, Corporate and Commercial Banking, Rabobank India, India
- Ron Yachnin, Principal, Yachnin and Associates, Canada

#### Endnotes

- <sup>1</sup> Economist Intelligence Unit and International Finance Corporation, survey on sustainable investing in emerging markets, forthcoming.
- <sup>2</sup> Enhanced Analytics Initiative, "Results of Extra-Financials Research," 2007.
- <sup>3</sup> CRISIL/S&P, "Standard & Poor's ESG India Index Launched," January 30, 2008.
- <sup>4</sup> National Stock Exchange of India, "Indian Securities Market: A Review," 2007, p. 296.
- <sup>5</sup> Bursa Malaysia, "Trading Participation by Category of Investors"; available at http://www.klse.com.my/website/bm/market\_information/market\_statistics/equities/foreign\_trading\_participation.html.
- Indonesia Stock Exchange, "IDX Monthly Statistics May 2008"; available at http://www.idx.co.id/.
- Philippine Stock Exchange, "Weekly Market Watch"; available at

http://www.pse.com.ph/html/MarketInformation/pdf/marketwatchrpts/2008/w5may2 008mktwatch.pdf.

- Stock Exchange of Thailand, "Foreign Trading"; available at http://www.set.or.th/setresearch/files/frs/Table\_ForeignTrade.xls?date=1995; and "Statistical Highlights of Set"; available at http://www.set.or.th/en/market/files/200806\_statistics\_highlight\_en.pdf?date=2008.
- Bombay Stock Exchange, "Investor Categorywise Turnover"; available at http://www.bseindia.com/mktlive/market\_summ/categorywise\_turnover.asp. Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange, "Foreign Trading Scale Statistic"; available at http://www.hsx.vn/.
- <sup>6</sup> International Finance Corporation (IFC), UN Global Compact (UN GC), and Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs, "New Frontiers in Emerging Markets Investment: Who Cares Wins Annual Event 2007," July 5, 2007, p. 5.
- <sup>7</sup> National Stock Exchange of India, "Indian Securities Market: A Review," 2007, p. 146.
- <sup>8</sup> Gordon Hagart and Ivo Knoepfel, onValues Ltd., "Emerging Markets Investments: Do Environmental, Social and Governance Issues Matter? Outcomes of a Workshop for Investment Professionals and Academics under the Auspices of the Mistra Sustainable Investments Platform," November 2007.
- <sup>9</sup> Interview with Melissa Brown, Executive Director, Asria, Hong Kong, May 7, 2008.
- <sup>10</sup> Interview with Ivo Knoepfel, Managing Director and Founder, onValues, May 23, 2008.
  <sup>11</sup> European Centre for Corporate Engagement, "Use of Extra-Financial Information by
- Research Analysts and Investment Managers," March 2007, p. 3. <sup>12</sup> IFC, UN GC, and Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs, "New Frontiers in Emerging Markets Investment," 2007, p. 8.
- <sup>13</sup> European Centre for Corporate Engagement, "Use of Extra-Financial Information," pp. 16–18.
- <sup>14</sup> Enhanced Analytics Initiative, "Enhance Analytics Initiative Publishes Results of Its Eighth Evaluation of Investment Research," July 3, 2008.
- <sup>15</sup> Interview with Dr. Ivo Knoepfel, onValues Ltd., Zurich, Switzerland.
- <sup>16</sup> Donald Reed, "Stalking the Elusive Case for Corporate Sustainability," World Resources Institute, December 2001
- <sup>17</sup> Aswath Damodaran, *Investment Valuation* (New York: Wiley, 2002), p. 88.
- <sup>18</sup> Fred Wellington and Amanda Sauer, "Framing Climate Risk in Portfolio Management," World Resources Institute and Ceres, May 2005, pp. 4–5.
- <sup>19</sup> Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), "Annex 6: Definitions and Basic Principles of Sustainable Forest Management in Relation to Criteria and Indicators," 2005.
- <sup>20</sup> World Bank, "Forest Law Enforcement and Governance (FLEG)—East Asia & Pacific".
- <sup>21</sup> Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report," 2007, p. 36.
- <sup>22</sup> Kenneth M. Chomitz et al., "At Loggerheads? Agricultural Expansion, Poverty Reduction, and Environment in the Tropical Forests," World Bank, 2007, pp. 43, 44 60, 62, 64, 65, 66, 100.
- <sup>23</sup> Martin L. Parry, Osvaldo F. Canziani, Jean P. Palutikof, Paul J. van der Linden, and Clair E. Hanson, eds., Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (*Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007), p. 175.
- <sup>24</sup> World Resources Institute, "Freshwater Resources 2005," 2005, p. 1.
- <sup>25</sup> World Resources Institute, "Climate Analysis Indicators Tool (CAIT)," 2000.

- <sup>26</sup> World Resources Institute, "What Are the Effects of Climate Change?"; available at http://www.wri.org/publication/content/7709.
- <sup>27</sup> United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), "Parties to the Kyoto Protocol," 2008; available at

http://maindb.unfccc.int/public/country.pl?group=kyoto.

- <sup>28</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Food Prices and Inflation in Developing Asia: Is Poverty Reduction Coming to an End?" April 2008.
- <sup>29</sup> World Bank, "Robert B. Zoellick: Sovereign Wealth Funds Should Invest in Africa," April 2, 2008.
- <sup>30</sup> Anita Regmi, M.S. Deepak, James L. Seale Jr., and Jason Bernstein, "Changing Structure of Global Food Consumption and Trade," U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, May 2001, p. 16.
- <sup>31</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Food Prices and Inflation in Developing Asia."
- <sup>32</sup> Zachary Sugg, "Food Price Crisis Triggers Questions about Global Food Security," World Resources Institute, April 25, 2008; available at http://www.wri.org/stories/2008/04/food-price-crisis-triggers-questions-about-global-food-security#.
- <sup>33</sup> United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP), "Asia-Pacific Region Addresses Energy Security Challenges at ESCAP Annual Session," April 28, 2008
- <sup>34</sup> World Health Organization. "Air quality guidelines. Global update 2005," 2005.
- <sup>35</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "How Does PM Affect Human Health?", 2008 ; available at http://www.epa.gov/ne/airquality/pm-human-health.html.
- <sup>36</sup> United Nations Population Division, "World Urbanization Prospects: The 2007 Revision Population Database," 2005.
- <sup>37</sup> Chris Ward, "Urbanization Legends: Is Urban Growth Part of the Problem or Part of the Solution?" World Resources Institute, July 3, 2007; available at http://earthtrends.wri.org/updates/node/216.
- <sup>38</sup> U.S. Census Bureau, "World POPClock Projection," May 7, 2008; available at http://www.census.gov/ipc/www/popclockworld.html.
- <sup>39</sup> International Monetary Fund (IMF), "World Economic Outlook Database, April 2008"; available at http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2008/01/weodata/index.aspx.
- <sup>40</sup> Asian Development Bank, "India's Economic Reforms: What Has Been Accomplished? What Remains to Be Done?" 2001.
- <sup>41</sup> World Bank, "India: Water", 2005; available at http://go.worldbank.org/JERBPC3AQ0.
- <sup>42</sup> Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007), p. 481.
- <sup>43</sup> World Resources Institute, "Agriculture and Food—India,"; available at http://earthtrends.wri.org/pdf\_library/country\_profiles/agr\_cou\_356.PDF.
- <sup>44</sup> Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate Change 2007*, p. 493.
- <sup>45</sup> K.J. Joy, "Water Rights, Equity and Water Law Reforms," p. 14, presentation at the International Environmental Law Research Centre (IELRC), Consultation on Water Rights, Equity and Water Law Reforms in India, April 19, 2008; available at http://www.ielrc.org/activities/conference\_0804/content/d0802.pdf.
- <sup>46</sup> Amelia Gentleman, "Indian State Lifts Cola Ban," *International Herald Tribune*, September 22, 2006.
- <sup>47</sup> Coca-Cola Company, "Our Water Conservation Goal," 2008; available at http://www.thecoca-colacompany.com/citizenship/water\_pledge.html.
- <sup>48</sup> Planning Commission, Government of India, "10th Five Year Plan (2002–2007): Energy," 2007, p. 759; available at

http://planningcommission.nic.in/plans/planrel/fiveyr/10th/volume2/v2\_ch7\_3.pdf.

- <sup>49</sup> IEA, "Petroleum Product Pricing in India—Where Have All the Subsidies Gone?" October 2006, p. 1.
- <sup>50</sup> Thomas Fuller and Heather Timmons, "India and Malaysia Raise Price of Subsidized Fuel," *International Herald Tribune*, June 4, 2008.
- <sup>51</sup> Indian Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises, "Annual Report 2007–2008," p. 39; available at http://dhi.nic.in/dhi0708eng.pdf.
- <sup>52</sup> World Resources Institute, "Climate Analysis Indicators Tool (CAIT): Compare Countries: India and World," 2008.
- <sup>53</sup> Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report, *Climate Change 2007, Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*, p. 480; and Goldman Sachs, "BRICs and Beyond,", 2007, p. 111.

- 54 Ibid.
- <sup>55</sup> IMF, "World Economic Outlook Database, April 2008."
- <sup>56</sup> World Bank, "World Development Indicators Database, April 2008," 2008.
- <sup>57</sup> Bank Indonesia, "Government Explanation on Government of Indonesia Decree Regarding the Reduction of Fuel Subsidy and Other Related Policies," May 23, 2008.
- <sup>58</sup> John Aglionby, "Indonesia Bans Most Private Exports of Rice," *Financial Times*, April 15, 2008.
- <sup>59</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Asian Development Outlook 2008: Indonesia," 2008.
- <sup>60</sup> Marc Lacey, "Across Globe, Empty Bellies Bring Rising Anger," *New York Times*, April 18, 2008.
- <sup>61</sup> Agence France-Presse, "Indonesia Self-Sufficient in Rice: Minister," April 15, 2008.; available at http://news.id.msn.com/regional/article.aspx?cp-documentid=1344652.
- <sup>62</sup> World Bank, "Environmental Issues in Indonesia," and Energy Information Administration, "Indonesia: Environmental Issues".
- <sup>63</sup> Matthew C. Hansen et al., "Humid Tropical Forest Clearing from 2000 to 2005 Quantified by Using Multi Temporal and Multi Resolution Remotely Sensed Data," National Academy of Sciences of the USA, July 8, 2008, p. 9441.
- <sup>64</sup> World Bank, "Indonesia and Climate Change: Current Status and Policies," 2007.
- <sup>65</sup> John Aglionby, "Biofuels Drive Causes Disputes in Indonesia," *Financial Times*, February 11, 2008.
- <sup>66</sup> Indonesia First, "Indonesia Overtakes Malaysia As Top Palm Oil Producer: Minister," April 14, 2008; available at http://indonesiafirst.com/2008/04/indonesia-overtakesmalaysia-as-top-palm-oil-producer-minister/.
- <sup>67</sup> Telly Nathalia, "Indonesia, Brazil to Cooperate on Biofuel," July 12, 2008.
- <sup>68</sup> Fred Stolle, "A First-Hand Account of Illegal Logging in the Indonesian Rainforests," World Resources Institute, May 6, 2008.
- <sup>69</sup> Unilever, "Palm Oil: A Sustainable Future," 2008; available at http://www.unilever.com/Images/Palm%200il%20-%20A%20Sustainable%20Future%202002\_tcm13-5315.pdf.
- <sup>70</sup> Indonesia Investment Coordinating Board, "Geography & Demography," 2008; available at http://www.bkpm.go.id/en/indonesia\_brief/geography.
- <sup>71</sup> World Bank, "Indonesia: Disaster Management," 2008.
- <sup>72</sup> World Bank, "Indonesia and Climate Charge: Current Status and Policies," 2007.
- <sup>73</sup> Red Cross / Red Crescent, "Case Study: Indonesia,"; available at www.climatecentre.org/downloads/File/RCRC\_ClimateG\_Indonesia.pdf.
- <sup>74</sup> Government of Indonesia's Kecamatan Development Program and the World Bank, "Aceh Flood: Damage and Loss Assessment,", p. ix.
- 75 Red Cross / Red Crescent, "Case Study: Indonesia."
- <sup>76</sup> Polya Lesova, "Jakarta Floods Hit Banks and Auto Stocks," *MarketWatch*.
- <sup>77</sup> UNEP, "The Environment in the News," September 4, 2004.
- <sup>78</sup> World Health Organization, "Mortality Country Fact Sheet," 2006, p. 2; available at http://www.who.int/whosis/mort/profiles/mort\_searo\_idn\_indonesia.pdf; and Asian Development Bank and Clean Air Initiative, "Country Synthesis Report: Indonesia," December 2006, p. 4.
- <sup>79</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Statistical Database System Online," 2008.
- <sup>80</sup> U.S. Department of State, "Background Note: Malaysia," December 2007; available at http://www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/2777.htm.
- <sup>81</sup> FAO, "Malaysia: Present Status of Food Crop Production,"; available at http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/swlwpnr/reports/y\_ta/z\_my/my.htm.
- <sup>82</sup> Burton, "Sarawak to Be Rice Bowl as Import Costs Rise."
- 83 Malaysian Palm Oil Council, "Annual Report 2007," p. 15.
- <sup>84</sup> World Bank, "Little Green Book: Malaysia," 2006, p. 140; and FAO, "Global Forest Resources Assessment 2005 (FRA 2005): Extent of Forest and Other Wooded Land: Malaysia," 2005.
- <sup>85</sup> World Wildlife Fund, "Peninsular Malaysian Rain Forests,"; available at http://wwf.us/wildworld/profiles/terrestrial/im/im0146\_full.html.
- 86 Unilever, "Palm Oil."
- <sup>87</sup> FAO, "The Malaysian Water Partnership,"; available at
- http://www.fao.org/docrep/004/AB776E/ab776e02.htm.
- <sup>88</sup> FAO, "Malaysia,"; available at
- <sup>90</sup> FAO, "The Malaysian Water Partnership."
- <sup>91</sup> Philippine Overseas Employment Administration, "OFW Global Presence: A Compendium of Overseas Employment Statistics," 2006.

- <sup>92</sup> The Economist, "The New Face of Hunger," *The Economist*, April 17, 2008.
- <sup>93</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Statistical Database System Online."
- <sup>94</sup> Reuters, "Manila Says Rice Self-Sufficiency at Least 3 Years Away," April 29, 2008.
- <sup>95</sup> Interview with Will Beloe, Program Manager for Sustainability, IFC East Asia and Pacific. May 15, 2008.
- 96 Ibid.
- <sup>97</sup> World Resources Institute, Earth Trends, "Forests, Grasslands, and Drylands— Philippines," 2003.
- <sup>98</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Philippines: Critical Development Constraints," December 2007, p. 7.
- <sup>99</sup> World Bank, "Philippines Environment,"; 2008.
- <sup>100</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>101</sup> World Bank, "World Development Indicators: Urbanization," 2007; and Asian Development Bank and Clean Air Initiative, "Country Synthesis Report: Philippines," December 2006, p. 2.
- <sup>102</sup> Asian Development Bank and Clean Air Initiative, "Country Synthesis Report" Philippines," p. 12.
- <sup>103</sup> Ibid., pp. 13 and 14.
- <sup>104</sup> Ibid., p. 17.
- <sup>105</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Statistical Database System Online."
- <sup>106</sup> International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), "Thailand,", 2003; available at http://www.irri.org/science/cnyinfo/thailand.asp.
- <sup>107</sup> Dr. Weerawat Chantanakome, "Review of National Communication: A Case of Thailand's Climate Change Action Plan," 2006, p. 32.
- <sup>108</sup> World Bank, "Thailand Environment Monitor," 2001.
- <sup>109</sup> FAO, "Thailand's Water Vision: A Case Study," 2001; available at http://www.fao.org/docrep/004/ab776e/ab776e04.htm#TopOfPage.
- <sup>110</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>111</sup> World Bank, "The Little Green Databook 2006: Thailand," 2006; and World Bank, "Thailand Environment", 2008.
- <sup>112</sup> World Bank, "The Little Green Databook 2006: Thailand."
- <sup>113</sup> Asian Development Bank, "Statistical Database System Online."
- <sup>114</sup> International Monetary Fund, "Consultative Group Meeting for Vietnam," December 2007; available at http://www.imf.org/external/np/dm/2007/121007.htm.
- <sup>115</sup> International Union for Conservation of Nature, "Viet Nam Expected to Be Hit Worst by the Impacts of Climate Change," May 28, 2008; available at http://cms.iucn.org/about/union/secretariat/offices/asia/asia\_where\_work/vietnam/index.cfm?uNewsID=1011.
- <sup>116</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>117</sup> United Nations Development Programme, "Viet Nam's Response to Climate Change," December 2007; available at
  - http://www.undp.org.vn/undpLive/System/Outreach/Newsroom/Feature-
- Details?contentId=2492.
- $^{\rm 118}$  lbid.
- <sup>119</sup> World Resources Institute, Earth Trends, "Forests, Grasslands, and Drylands—Viet Nam," 2003.
- <sup>120</sup> FAO, "Global Forest Resources Assessment 2005: Vietnam," 2005, p. 4.
- <sup>121</sup> Clean Air Initiative, "Air Pollution Blamed as Study Finds Respiratory Illness Hitting HCMC's Children," March 26, 2008.
- <sup>122</sup> Asian Development Bank and Clean Air Initiative, "Country Synthesis Report: Vietnam," December 2006, p. 2.
- <sup>123</sup> Ibid., p. 5.
- 124 Ibid., p. 15.
- <sup>125</sup> The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) pioneered the development of the world's most widely used sustainability reporting framework. For more information, see www.globalreporting.org
- <sup>126</sup> SustainAbility's Global Reporters research surveys and ranks the quality of non-financial reporting. For more information, see www.sustainability.com



#### **About WRI**

The World Resources Institute (WRI) is an environmental think tank that goes beyond research to find practical ways to protect the earth and improve people's lives.

Our mission is to move human society to live in ways that protect Earth's environment and its capacity to provide for the needs and aspirations of current and future generations.

Because people are inspired by ideas, empowered by knowledge, and moved to change by greater understanding, WRI provides—and helps other institutions provide—objective information and practical proposals for policy and institutional change that will foster environmentally sound, socially equitable development.

WRI organizes its work around four key goals:

**People & Ecosystems:** Reverse rapid degradation of ecosystems and assure their capacity to provide humans with needed goods and services.

Access: Empower people and support institutions to foster environmentally sound and socially equitable decision-making.

**Climate Protection:** Protect the global climate system from further harm due to emissions of greenhouse gases and help humanity and the natural world adapt to unavoidable climate change.

**Markets & Enterprise:** Harness markets and enterprise to expand economic opportunity and protect the environment.

#### About the International Finance Corporation (IFC)

IFC, a member of the World Bank Group, creates opportunity for people to escape poverty and improve their lives. We foster sustainable economic growth in developing countries by supporting private sector development, mobilizing private capital, and providing advisory and risk mitigation services to businesses and governments. Our new investments totaled \$16.2 billion in fiscal 2008, a 34 percent increase over the previous year.

The Environmental and Social Sustainability Business Line of IFC works for the large-scale adoption of business models that are profitable, good for the environment and promote social development. Its projects address the market barriers to a sustainable private sector by demonstrating practices that can generate green profits across an entire sector.

For more information, visit www.ifc.org.

#### **About the Authors**

Dana Krechowicz is an Associate in the Markets and Enterprise Program at the World Resources Institute. Her research focuses on identifying financially material risks and opportunities of sustainability trends for companies in key sectors in emerging economies. Dana comes most immediately from the equity analysis team at Innovest Strategic Value Advisors, where she analyzed and rated companies' performance on environmental, social and governance issues for several sectors. Her prior experience consists of finance roles in both the private and public sectors. She holds an International MBA from the Schulich School of Business, York University in Toronto, Canada, and a B.Comm. from McMaster University in Hamilton, Canada.

Hiranya Fernando is a Senior Associate in the Markets and Enterprise Program at the World Resources Institute. Her research focuses primarily on the business and competitive implications of environmental and sustainability issues such as climate change and water scarcity. She works with several financial institutions in providing forward-looking, applied research that translates complex environmental trends into financial terms useful to investors and companies. Previously, Hiranya worked at the World Bank in Washington DC, and Merrill Lynch and Citigroup in Switzerland. She holds an MBA from the Wharton School of Business, and a Masters of Laws and a B.Sc. in Government & Law from the London School of Economics.





